Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
RESBESEMAILZBRAS
Stock Code B3 f3%: 02368

S Fﬁﬁi%ﬂ%ﬁ |
5|t ﬁ:ﬁ#n :

=

A LMSMO. SNLLSADN
SNOZIHOH SNIAONTSH=

DNELS

B G [ T P e b e Yoo M N Pt

..............

-----------
'''''''''''''''''''

*EHGEB

*For identification purposes only

i
e 2



L R e
o S L g,




o B BRRTETE

BT Rk 2 mnhF Ak /5
K B A ax £
EERHF




~EEH

MERE

ERBE

14

EEERmED

82

EEREREEERE

81

EFEHS

ERERRS



- REGMBERR

119

B ERS

120

mEEmR

121

mAEEEBaR

122

mAEMBERRR

124

MmaEmBER

129

MERERER

128

Rt %5 3R R B 5E




75 S5 (EE)E8  JILINITSONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 319V3

\

Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

Gl
ot

)mB; i

p—

WITES

EBEA(EE)

BN (B EE)

1B R (1T AR A

HKE

EH2ES

MHS(B-FE-_AE=-BF=-HEEZMF)

BAEEISE_AFEA=Z+HREEEE)

BRE(BE_NMEABR_HREEME)
SR (BZEZHENAZTHERT)

HEM(BEZEZMWENB Z BT

BIMERNTES

CEES
2 &

BAE

NEIMWE
HEE

=t i 7} 55 B2

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

BMBREREEEIEER

2

BB

MR

=

M E & 8635%
B&EHBD
BEESHE

AR

REFEREMEBLA
BB

A7

BB

TRES

WA KiE231E

1% ZLEM

RXKEFEIEHFR

R AR | En—:- X225 &l
EBHAHE

EEEI795E

Kb h1EE2718

BEREEGNE

WS R (27

BRAE



mMESEMRE

RER(EE)
EH

REAZEEENE

BB (ERE)
BREx
BAE

2, ) —
FEFRET
EBLLBELZRTHRAE
B EHREEETROBRATETENT
FEIRITERS DT

FTERMDECKRBFE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

BRODELTRBFEEED R

HERSELERAE
58

ERIE165%
ERERMAP 0171

REEH (

St

A8 1t

https://www.eaglenice.com

Rz {0 FX5R

02368

)

65

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED  FEE3E (ER) IE IR B IR A &

\



A

Q3LINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 301N 319V3

(=7 & B 30 = (35 el ) 36 8l

66

Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

MERE

- =Sl - ZEFTW@E
E BEET BEETT
—E PN 4,808 4,075
BRITE i A E RIRIEREF 547 546
RKANBEHEE A B EEEF 217 264
BREXRRET 38.57& 1l 49 3# A
FEREE
— R HE 223l 307811
— R HH 438l 87l

- i T —EE
BRI BEHBT BHEETT
BEME 3,974 3,170
STEIETER 1,448 909
REER 1,754 1,576
ANEHEE ANELEREEFE 3.06i& T 2.95% 7T

EXKA

Y/ /4

ANNNNNNNN

BEET

4,808

451 405
3,668
3209 I

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

KL HEAEL @ F

314

293
215

2021 2022 2023

264

2024

BEET

211

2025



e o o [ ] [ ]
B (o7 % B3 ME) X8 QILINN SONITTOH (TYNOIIYNYILIN) 39INT19VT © © LI f»
o o
Y]
N
o
N
4 o T m
[0}
o o
2 =
N N s e, = g
=2 P = <
| ol
m n B
o~ = M
%v b At s T ) T e 2 H
% H I
: = = -
~ i
%v .\ ® e 1
m
o\ 2,
2Bk e :
£
84
- g
td 4 B s it 5
ES e
(—) & - -
o s
®
D O O FEYFRPCPFOL PP PNy B N B L

iEEEKA M
o & K XE
[
91.4% 20.5%
°QD

BERET




Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

FRHRE

ANNNNNNNN

Q3LINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 301N 319V3

FAERREX (BR) ZRBR2A (TF28)])
EFSE ([EFTE]) RAAMXLBRKRE ([RR])
REXAQFRERMBLAR (KW IFEE])
BE-_F_AF-A=-+—HLEMBEEZFERSE -

e (27 2 5 T ()




B

Aty
.

ZE %50l kE e )

%D B EE o 105 R 3t
BE—F 2REEREESERBDHEXE #EBURERNE  HE
FREBMHEEBURNEZNWEFRERBBERERERRE AEERLREREIK

WA BEBE N ORRER  RUBFHBRBIMES - RESAN BB
LR KTERUEEEMGE  EERMAREKBREREHRTESE -
ENEREPRHEXEAHREENERL HEEESCEBREERNERE
BZAGEBMERE AEEU2KRGF  RTK SEEE] ZHBRERRIES
ERABMEBUHEREREN -

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED  FEE3E (ER) IE IR B IR A &

ZEZFEER Annual Report 2025 A



A

Q3LINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 301N 319V3

(=7 & B 30 = (35 el ) 36 8l

Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

/.

ERBE

EXRME o HWTR » SUEDE

BELF AEEFERCERUEERR BEEBEZTAEEREERRE EREHESFREEL - ERE
DROEE  AEEVRBENE=ZXRIBRNENEBETEALES BRE-BHREBRREREN  EBEERB
B ERENLCERTHEENEZNERER EERENEHBERIERSHE FHENTHERER &
FEBBHNERINBBBRIE - HHEHUARTENBREREAES  AEESRDHEREEREHES -
RESBHRABBEBHEE S BERERNAN  BERSEHR PR RGEERYBEERSERE  THX
HEENESCRANMBENES AP RAZR|FREABEERE -

ERMEMATEH AEEENZERTORESHREERFAEN EBRETIEZRBPAR AEEBATEBES
AREZREZOSIE BREHRMBERARANMBES SERUENERREEN BREANERE B
B ERE 1 E o



HRRE
REXRKR  AEERBRFIFHFH KERBEIRELER ETRRMEBRBERFEEE BHEELDNMHEER
E-EMNXBHRTORAT BREZEAMAX MENELKNEMRAEAEN HETERTREEHKS - A5
EXBEEIEREERENEL EEIAENREXHEZRRAN T EEEMERNEERE - BR[E2IK
REHTHE SABERKEE NEELE  RUEKNBZERELERADBR AEERHIRAFEEERE -

AANEHLUEE AREFTRORILERR BEF HEBARERBHHEENXF SEEREZRENE
B ERIRESEERE ETOERRNAR TRIEBEEEMEIAEENKERRFHOFHER |

E
EEA
B8 “F”_AFENA+—H

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED  FE S5 (EIBR) BB B R A

A FFH Annual Report 2025 J



J Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

. BIEHE

B IRAESHNIETEEWN

75 S5 (EE)E8  JILINITSONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 319V3



o Bg X P

1 REMIE SR ™
2 FEIIAEESR
3 PEERZIED
4 FEEREERE
5 PEREREHLT

WA ANVN ANRRRARR IR AR

6 WEHERT
7 BEERRE
B BEERE

g HEERE
o EEERY



Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYALNI) 3JIN 319V3

(27 G B 5 = (55 ) £ 8l

74

Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

EEEN W E D

B4 %5 3= 35 [O]

BBRIR

REBEEE AEBEHEERAELNDE4IS07HEST(ZTEIMEE 407478 8B T) - tHEEEMN733.2
BEET(H18.0%) - REBEEHRTBRATEN  BHEAKEHRTHERAEHR_S_AFI_S="FHNES
FEREANSY - EAE T _NFLREHNRTHEHNDELARI0% B EZENESHRHTEHKRIEILGR - N
LEFHERHRL R HBEFRTEER AEBOEFENTERETSEREERS BEBRRNEREREER
EEM KRRKEALAEBEELR KEENMBRETSHE  SRAEEEAHEE LA AEEFTEHERBMNAD
AR ZEAEBMN FEAENAAERE—KTE FRHEIPEKXENSIEEMNI38.I9EE BT (56.0% )
E247M3EBB L BEALZERNE—LPHERENS PEAEMSHELNEREFST7T2% FEHE8%E
51.4% » EFNERETIGEEESBIEMNI78IHEB T (T|31.1% ) E160B2BEBEBIT METHEBEESELAE
EEMEFELLEBREF299% EA3I%EI32% °

RIFBZAF=ZA=+—H FEEZFHTELEEN KREMIAERPERE(BEERE ITAEE KN
B RRED(BEEERNE) AEEMURPEARENEEEMERREAR HRERHECHRTELEBNNE
FR-EPF—HFRAELAEEMNEZEAEETERZPL BIORBTFRREEMRAARE BNEREESHK
Em HAKERZELECEERNUBCIFRETESUEE  ©MRDE THERCOEREE MR ARKEM
BMHATENHE ZERESFHRAUKBPRAERENERBEERETESNELDHBEEROTEE L  ~&EH
EFEETEBREREBNEEEN -HNEBEMEFRBEMMN I HMAR _S_"ERRKRE SREEXRENE
EXRE - TERNAEEER EAS—FEPO BRHAZENDE  EALEEEBRAED -FR X
EER-ZFNFELtATHKRENEEREZBIEES LRHER ERAURENIHMEABENERTEEE

a5
Be °

REBEEE  FREEBERAEZEEREY  REALEETRET BUSERAXEAEEERERT - BRLAE
EEF L2408 EETT(H32% ) E772. 7B EETT(ZEME 74878 EBT)  BEEFEH18.4% T 2.3%
£16.1% - AEBERATFE T ES7.08E BT (515.0% ) £323.8E BB T (ZF M4 : 380.8B B & L) * RATF]
TEHERH9.3% FE2.6% E6.7% °



EEENRENN (B)

Bt ¥R IR O] B )

MBRREE

REOBEEE AEEHERIHEREMISEEB T (T423% ) ZEBEHEE LAMEM - THRERER
W48 AEEBTT(15.7% ) FEHREIFMEMN XN EFERAEREEST  UENEEBERLELEE
MIEMEMN - MERAFTE AEBCEABEREAMETZHKBLEEEMKEBLEERESHEHEAMEBESZRES
ETEF AERTHEEFLBIEM25 8B EBIT(568.7% ) - RIEAHE ERAEEAFEERABERVE7.08
BBIT(H15.0% ) FAREFNEERESIHBSEEEBT (H124%) - KAEEBBRREAH294%  BEFE
BRME28.6%LLEIEM0.8% - IR FAMBBEEEEMNEEVHFREER  NMRZEESFE A&
ERAEERMEAR223% (ZFMF :263% ) REFFI3.0%  FTERAFTIMNRSHENTEAKEHE
LFl &R EERD -

HttWARKZE21 I EBEBT(ZE_MUE 1998 BB T) TECHE S4EEBT(ZE_MNFE: 94888 TT) K
BHBEABEBRFAFHNERSEL RETAERNIBEEST(ZS_NE : 5rEEET)  c Htt & ER %46
HEBT FTECGRLEYE BMEMERLEMERNEBELR UREFSBEASCEES T T EEEERER
78EEETT

ERMEALEEEENNEEYYREEERIAMERAKNBENIMELAEERRIE  KAEEAQDEE AR
EEAA217 2888 BREFMW263 8B BTHA463EE BT (H17.6%) - AAEEE ABLFFEBEE5%
T#2.0%ZE45% - AEEARNBDEEABGEEREARF A3SLEN  EFEALO3IB -BEETRERKRHAKRE
FRABW(CEINEE : 8B - ERAERERRKMANFHEKREER2BI(ZFZMHE  3081) 2FEREE
BRI B 267l tE B A EISBI  2ERELEA68.7% (ZEZME : 77.0%) °

RBEEMMBER

REBEE AEBBEEFBEETBDESRT AEEB-—RURNTELEZERARITEENEREERXAHH
EEMSE RIF_AF=ZA=1+—H FA5EFERESKBRITHERIS7TIEEBT(ZTIEFE 4901888
o) EERBE O ARBRET-

RIE_RAEF=R=+—H AEENRTEREE1,BI3TEEBT(ZFT_ME 1,486 3FEBT) UALNT R

AABETHBAREABDEERAEH1418EHEBT(ZENE  14903HEBET) RIBZHAE=ZB=+—
H AEENRTEREECEREH1.4478EEBT(ZF _MM4E - 909 5HEETT) ©

ZEFE T HAFEFEHR Annual Report 2025

15

KRAERAF

e
=l

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED & 35 ([ %) 1%

A



Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYALNI) 3JIN 319V3

B=\7 8 B 3= (I E) £

16

Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

EEENREDN (F)

Bt ¥R IR O] B )

RBEERMBER®
EEERE REMBERRUBNREREE RRERARERSEMT BASEEHNREZR D FHRE
BRIRE FHRRHAEENEETELEERTE -

AEENEAEGBLEERECAEEFTE(HENEBETEENRESRBETER RUERAEE AEFAR-E
“AF=ZA=Z+—H BEHEAEI1%(ZFIMEFE:257%) °

4 EE [ B8 B 1

AEEAEAHERURTRAREKETEEZRZERRAR -AREZHERARKERTRAREERZ AR -
BEASEEAEFUEREKETHNHERRBZBNYE EHREEELZIERRER D TAEMKE -
BIEFERERAESRTANEEASEEEINERR -

AEESEEERENERR TRAGEZTIEEENEREBMKEIMERR -

EXBBREESFR
RBEEZFZAF=ZRA=+—HLEE REUBFRENMBERERMF27R29% FEERKBEERKBEINLENR
BAA RBEEZF_NF=ZA=+—HLFE HEEREUBEILEHRBLR -

RARER
RIFZRAEZR=+—H F EERBEAEAIREE(CB-AOEFE H) -



B RIFMOE @)

BEAXKE
AEEREEFERZERAENT

EEENBENN (B

)

RIFZME
=Z=RA=+—H
FET
BEELNERERE
HERESMUNRUTHEZYE  BEMRE
— JIsE 2,571 19,172
— i 24,524 533
— HRB 39,417 4,596
— Wi 19,606 10,740
— & 1,230 11,890
— B 1,330 589
— Hth#th B4 132 182
88,810 47,702
1’ & X % B B 2R

RIBZHEZRA=Z1+—H AEFERZEEFENHLEEL18,800ZEE(ZF M4 : £915,500%) - REIEFE
E EERIXHAEE(BEESERARNATHRAR ([TRER]HFE)A1,2338EET(ZFZME : 1,052.6

BEBIT

EE(BRESF ) MENREETHARE EXEBRIBETTEEAEE -AEETAEBREFHEERFMER
BEEREEMRBARBAFEMUR ARAEPEKE  @ERENEREFHEAE BN -

ZF - REF K Annual Report 2025

17

ZIRBRAE

o
=l

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ & 35 (B B%) #

A



Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYALNI) 3JIN 319V3

B=\7 8 B 3= (I E) £

18

EE

Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

EdmEDi (F)

FERX S

A.

AEBRBHEETHWEARETUTEBHMARZMBERAE (B ESF EHARA (T EHRA FE14A
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(a) EZR#E W&
RZZB_-—%73B—H ' Pouyuen Vietnam Company Limited ([ Pouyuen Vietnam J)(—ZR R # & B 3L
ZRE RABRAER ETRAARARBDFERRBITITE (KB BRAA (BRHARSE - 00551)([#
THZEZELENBAT  RAItAEXATIREAL) BEARATLENB LA Pro Kingtex Vietnam Co.,
Limited (I Pro Kingtex Vietnam I ERBEBZE ([ REERBH R H-FE-—FBE—HEEZ
FEMERABR=+—HIAB=% " Pro Kingtex Vietnam[&BPouyuen Vietnam> f Z IR¥EE LR

T
BE_ZS_AF
=BA=+—HLt
HBEE
ET(FEFEEER) 300,000
WM EBTEE 2,340,000

RZEBEZPERHA=+—H ' Pouyuen Vietnam&2Pro Kingtex Vietnamz] M ¥ £ R = ([ ERE
mE) UEEREEREHSR B-SE_MEANA—HEEZEZtHFRAA=+—HIERAH=F"
Pro Kingtex Vietnam & @ Pouyuen Vietnam% & Z IRFE & LR T :

BE-A=-+—HLMEFE

“E_REF ZEIN B +HE —E)N\E
ST (REFEEER) 1,500,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 300,000
WA B TEHEE 11,700,000 14,040,000 14,040,000 2,340,000

RBEE_ZF_AE=B=+—HLEE  Pouyuen VietnamBEBEREEZTREHREULTEIRE HZEE
Pro Kingtex VietnamIER 2 8 E & 38 41,133,4173 75 (B ZF R 498,829,000 7T) @ W E BB LRI N A
NEIHPA S _NERABR=Z1+—HZAEHMEBEZEE LR -EEREEREBBURFTERSEH

BrE—SRERBALRRE -



EEENRENN (B)

FERX S @
BHERERS (&)

A.

(b)

(c)

HEG#

HMILBEEERRERAB (R ARAEEHBOXERZWEAR) BEEERAF (—RRN
BRXAER LT ZAB (B MRR : 02331 CETTHERE) %82331 (AREIER))  [F=| EEHWEX
BZE2&EE ) ETHEESRHRS -

HRFZE2EEFEHEZ20%KE AUFEEEREARFANBLAEEEZEEAN L RRE LR A
BUAE BERFEEEZHAZRGERAQRRAZHERERZ W RBEE-F-_ALF=A
=+—HLEEE FEEZMREZ2EWNBELAR MEX(EE2)HXERAA(EX(EB))RE
XHBUHRERLB([EE(@FWL) ) TEFEEBETRELRS -

REACFAAPAZFMNFELtRTHZAGE RBEEZFAF=ZRA=+—HBRZFIAF=H
=+—HLEFE BFEEEETZIHERS (FTSBER ZBFELRED A FEBEE A RKSS0
BETRARKESOEETT(HERNIBEEETRINBEEET) RBEE_FE_AF=A=+—H
LEE AEBEF2EERBHEEHRR((HERRE ETZHESTE (RSB ER) A ARKS78H
BT (BFERW624EEBTT)  WHEBL EARFE LR -
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REBELT S -

BER 59 R-IFB_FBFMNAMAFEEHEARSRTEEE_S_AF A -HAERABEEZ—
RNaEEEEREELSRKHER T F RUEB S _FNACEZEARAMTZIESTREREYEBE - B’
—NA—FEMARBRT TABRTETHEASES KE B __FARE_F_ME AEEHBLIRNE
RAB(BRIDASK: 1730) 2EBE ZRARGEBHFRGM LT - HEERPRERE  BEEHELEMU KA
“ECAFEANRZTHEREARBRTES
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EFREREEERE (§)

BIAERTES

BRER 585 BETFEEALRXUMIAEIRLTRADUBES UBRERAAWE - BR—N/\AER
BERBPXAEZIFEES IS IR ZFF=FREEHHNFTASIHEERISMU REEB-FF=F
ERAEBEHMAEERGE RAENNBE - FE-_—F LA B _=ZF+_AEEEHXMAERLTAA
EPSRIERIREBABERA R (KRN AIR : 03860) KB RAGEM LT AR HRBIERERAE (BRH R : 08308) 2
BN TEE - HADNEB S _NE+AR S _ _FRARETIBMIAER LT AT RELZREERER
AE) (MR - 00061) KB RAGEMET AR BALERERBRAR (RMOAR  08176) 2 RBAWE - KEZ
FE_F+-RAEEZERLRRIBILFNTES -

HEE 64 RER RBERBBHRAIMKEBATRAERN BLXELR-ANZFEANBBRENMKEILRS
REBTEMENR-BIANF+ - RANGEBRTAREEBEAREEAPELT S HECERMELEBFERIRT
AEEEER-TAFER -BR-N/N\NEFE-NANZFHHEETBRERT BE S DUB RO AR
UGETEE) ARBMBERABZEF KR -—AANFE_SELFHHEETHIAERLTRATZERE
MEBRRE EBRTREER (KON - 00027)) 2EBRE R -_BEBELEE_S - L FHBEEBRAA
IFRETABDFTEEBAERAR (RMHAR: 01223) 2 EBERALSRBEBE KE-S-—NFNALEZESR
ARBBILERTESE -

RHME 495 BRA—HHBARANERER ZRAR/XEATHEREELREAGSAARHUEBLERR
R OEHEELEECEEC REXKBRIMEBRBRG; REERSTAFES—/)\FHE BF
EREMRDNE BEFARTERS REERKREETHEERREEN RELETABRIEEEEARAF
RBEEBEFAFNEZFRBERI((EFLBERG D TETENEBFRHERIRBENERHEEE
BEE)ZRAEFINHEREEAE REER T AFNEXEANASLERERIHEEELEM R
EE_FRRERERZERIERANSBELEN R-AN/N\FHREZREIRBERIERANSBELE
- HEZE_FFE+_AEEZERAQABIFRITES -



EFLEREEERE (§)

BAE S35 BEBER (8B EEME A A XREDMNEEREREREHNNTER B LFTHEH
RE QERRED REABEEEREUHEEMELFNBREER HEZTEAFR  RELELEREBRER
BEBNREEDR B R2KELRERBELA cENBERSEI AR EE—RREHER RIS
B-RELEHBX BEX EEMMBHREBERBEEBR -—ReREBLENBIRZRADNER  UREBR
EE-—RAEWHEZART - AREER-—NANAFESIMNMNIBTIARSREAIRESSLEM -KE-F
THMFE-ZRRBEEER/FARBABILFERTES -

BREERE

BRER 260 EZF_MFE—AERMAFEBREIEEIFEHE TR-_F_NFHEEAR/ERABEBHRE -
RE_FB_MNENAEEZEAARFTETHAR MELBERNEAARABEAZEREEX - RAEXQT
EERRIERRPTEEHRINEEENRE T -

EHEM G BE_E-AFENMALREEECHIIESHRALEE YA S __FEREHLURREE - K
ERXRTERET=ZF&8 AMALEEHARILHEETARERAABKENE aEHHEEREREE
BIF - WARRAPTEFTEXRREENREF -

BEEF 8% B—ANMNFZAEMALREE BRR-ZFFE_F+-AE_STNFEAEERQRBNITES -
BREAAEERCE AEAEEZHEATSHEESS HNEMREREE TERA- +FER - EMALE
il  SRETEBEB-—RXARREQE RERBIF-

BER oo BEASEEXEBECE -BRRZFFAF/\AMALER - BLLEEEREERFAR EERE
MHEEEEE - BEEFEEBEIREENEERL2M HROBRETEREEELR BE-WNtHE
EIERNFEAEAMRAAREELEENERRAEFHRBA RERELRAEELTEER TRENE
EJSIE

EEE 595 BT\ FE-REMAAEEECEBTAAEE RREAEEEBRECE T ERFLE

BEZHERTSHE RERKTEBA=ZTFER ENALEHN  REBEBANELATEFISHEE &
BEEXFFHEHmELRRBEIE-
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EFREREEERE (§)

FR-29% BZF—/\FLtAEMAAEER B _NELARBEZAAFNEBEBEALCE REaELEH
EGBRRABEE -HRIF-/N\FLtREZF__FRABZIAEBEERENE YR_FB__FtHEZ
TINEANREFRRBIPE - TRTEZF-—LFEERETETIXAE EGIREES TS0 - AMALXE
EHil TRt ZEEE—RHYRAARAETEREKE-

HEZ 8 BE-EFRAFAAEMAREREEIUHBREMR _SEAFNAEZEAEXRTRAAWE - &
REAEEGH MBERERETHROAGHAZBE HEEEERNLEREMITES -BERAEMITE
BAF EMAXREH BER—BEEMIAERLTZHEXQFAEEIHEVYBRE B -REGFHRHE
EETHEEBA_+LEER ALt HREEEREAREEHEE T2 -HABTBEAMAGZIHNEEE -

% 475 BFFRE/N\AEMALEER QECAEEDEEEVYBE KA _ST/N\FEETREHR
FREE BB —FETEEFAEEZARERE - EMALERRN  REETBRERSFAMTREREERA
B Z2HZEDEQEMIA LT AAN LT EEREF L SRIHEEBEIXRSELATERELEULS
FMERLEM -HATBEMNAETEE . BWERAEGEM -

HRR B BT+ -AENMAFEEETEBRE HAFAKENEREL BEHE a8k
TERARERE REFA_TFEENEEER EINGEHE LSESER - EMAKXEER  BRE
BEBECTZESABAL CEEREFAEEARAARGEETENRERLEEE FEERTENGERE
B °
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=

FEXRH
RRBZEEEBAREER -BHARRAEWEBRAS 2T EXZBHRENYBERERRMNE - AEBTEXEBNE
ERFENEEEMERES -

FERKRER

AEEREE S _AFEZRA=+-HLEFEZHEIRAEERZENMBRAER A FHRF120E228BH0 M H
e

ARBARZBIEF+_A+—HREGHTHRESREBR2BL -EFEZAR_S_AF/\BE=+HIB%
JIBRRAMORRIKNAFERBREEREERIBM - FEHERFBRRMED -

BBEENEE
UTHEINAEERFHAEAVREEZXEHEEAEGENE BRECHSLEZMBREK -
E .
«
mX
“EB-RE ZEIWE s =fF —EFIHF T —F r
FET FET FET FETT FET ﬁ
EEKAN 4,807,899 4,074,668 4,051,107 3,668,371 3,248,875
B 72 B a F 323,821 380,779 399,444 363,938 422,386
FrEMmEX (95,290) (108,746) (98,501) (81,357) (95,651)
F P 228,531 272,033 300,943 282,581 326,735
FE1h -
ZUNEIEZZ= DN 217,201 263,510 292,639 274,633 313,559
R EED 11,330 8,523 8,304 7,948 13,176

228,531 272,033 300,943 282,581 326,735
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EFERE (B)

MEBEREBEw
BEHGHE
R=B=+—H
—EBE_RE ZEIWE —EI=HF I HF T —fF
FET FET FET FETT FET
EREBEE 2,012,004 1,518,222 1,412,551 1,404,279 1,124,131
MBEE 1,962,030 1,652,265 1,662,196 1,721,123 1,448,506
mREAE (1,913,783) (1,211,168) (1,241,933) (1,328,430) (956,375)
MEEERE 48,247 441,097 420,263 392,693 492,131
ERBER (236,161) (324,903) (150,568) (75,283) (65,189)
1,824,090 1,634,416 1,682,246 1,721,689 1,551,073

EXBELFEERTBRRO—ED -

B
ARBARAFENRALEH N M BRKRMEE27 -

BEBEHE
ARAZESERAUHEHE XL ABEELBERZEX AEAADARLAARERRIRERE

b e

BE BOXLEFAR EHESF
ARARREAMBLAIRENERBE BERLERADEA LHES -

CIRE: 32 34

RIFZAEF=ZBE=+—H A2 RHASHERAREER X E Z I #2 R & 72982,202,00054 7T ©982,202,000
BUZABEEEARARIE _AF A=+ —HHNEHEZERKEAHE S 798,708,000 T - IR Z
BHRALNDREEREEZS KEEEHRENEEEHEEBPIHEEZERE -
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FTEERRMER 89

REBEEE BAEEAKREREHZHEBNMAEEAFERINERE04%  EFEARAETFFHZHERE
B 491558.7% °

AEBRAFEDAARAMEHFEZRBBROGAEERRER298% EFEORAHERFEL 2 RBEUIOG
71% -°

EEE RETAMBASBEERARAEEARAERTRASHULZEMARR MEELAEEALAREFH
HEREEEMNERED -

S
RAEERREEDE EFA

BWITESE :

BEAEE(EE)

BRNR SR E (BIEE)

BRI L (TTEAEEE)

S EL L

eSS Lt(BZE_AE=-R=-HEEZET)

AgEEE(BEZE_AENA=ZTtHEEET)

BRALE(BEZE_NENAZHREZRMT)
EREE(BZE_AENA=Z1THERT)

tHEMEE (B _MNE A ZHRET)

SIRBRAF

e
=l

BIAFERTES -
RERKE
HEREERT
RIBETRE
BRABRE

REARB ZHEBER@AUESTNE BRAEEE BEERALEEMREREERBRESE UHEERAEER
BERFEBEFAGEEZET -REAQBDZEBEREMAESQ)FE DR ZFBMFARE ZB_HF=ZAK
TECAFANREZAR/RVPTEFZSEFAXE BASKIRAXBREERERERERREFAE  EFS
EREREREBERRBFERGERET -

ARNBEEEARNEBILFHTEET IREREE BEELL RAEXLERFRAETELE) ZFEBISNE
BE RARSEH NERSFABILAL-
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EFERE (B)

EEREREEERE
R S R R I 2 U B WL A R 502 86 ¢

EEZRBEHN

BREARAEERREBFAEBEECZLEETMELEARTNEETMANRBELARAT LBERAZARRNATR—FNE
ABECEERERMN MRIEZRBELH -

cRBIFHATEFEAEERY TARBARAAZHEHGERMAUNRKRTEFAE LHESRL FUEE-

B <& B o B B 5 F

FEEOMEBRRDRBENRENREHNE LEEHETRY RILAKENENEAIME  AEET G
HEeESRHENBREAL FARFHAEEFLERNER AEEATESFHTENHERRIZEEEBK
PITEENFHEEMEIAFAEFRAENRERN  FAKETHRBERHBRITES -

FEEFHSENIEROEEELRFE HNBERAKEERH -

EERSARKRRATLERGKRMNE BEEETEREECESHES HMUMESIREFTESREFNEE -
BERRBEURAEEXREMET

EENXRS  REISHZER
RAFER BEFEAFENHEERNALIRLECANBL DT LA EELBTN S BEXZEM
X5 RERBHT HEXBEETEARD

EAHTRBERS

ARBHEBERMARTE ERMARAEMNESETEZEREEAEMSABEYNEREAREINEE R
MNERSRERS ZFALHETEEZEEIHBANEMBEBEMEANFERIZABARTEH BX BF
RAX AEBRARRLEZEMER AARARLEFEERHNASEEERAMSEBERBRENESER
SHRBEEERRE -



ESERS (8)

ESFRTRESNRODRERRMDZERRE

RIBZEE=A=+—0 EERFLATRERRALAREMEREE (CERBSRBER (BHR
BEGRD ) EXVER) ZRARARBRG B EEERNRBESRESGABGEEENEEMOBERS
B IR TR A RCIA R MR T A BT E TRERSNEETH (BEFH ) EATFLIRBRH
PEERESEMT -

P /N
S8 E LMEAXTIERT
EE=NA 1% RE BAESE
EEFALE(ELE] T AEER 72,650,000 12.65
(BfFE1)
BEDEEA 19,892,000 3.46
[CIN-Ages EREBA 36,750,800 6.40
EEESLE EREEA 8,500,000 1.48
mAKEEE(EITE]D SERAEER 32,320,000 5.63
(Pt 5¥2)
EDEEA 368,000 0.06

1. B R Time Easy Investment Holdings Limited ([ Time Easy N#%H @ HE2 M ERTRABRNITESELEHE -

2. I %5 B 7 R Excel Skill International Limited ([ Excel Skill ) #H @ HEeHMERTRABIITESTELEFTE -

BREXAKEEN RIBZAF=ZAZ+—H EFRARATHRAHMEZTRHELARTRNEAEEEERZ
RO REEROHEZRTE  MARBESFLPERFISEI2RLH  ARBELETINRBNEARE RERA -

ESRBERDABEFZEF
BREXEERITEARRROREERDZETZRTE | —HREEN RENEAKE ENEEFARELH
ZEBIARBEFR MEERATETEBARRAREAEEEIEROIVESMER ZEN  AREREE
ARBEABTNET LERNRH BEEEFTREMEMEAEBESZEERN -

ZF - REF K Annual Report 2025

91

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED  FE3E (B BR) = B B R A Al

A



=7 & B3 & (ke 228 QILIAITSONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3JIN 319v3

92

Annual Report 2025 —ZE _ AEF

EFERE (B)

FERRREMAIRERORERARDZERRES
RIBIES=A=+—0 BREFRAQTTRERN - FHALRAAES%R LB RTRABREERE
BHRBEROBEBOHENAADEEBNSTHO R :

FisEER#EE GFEARAERT

e S RE &=k 41
Time Easy EXREEA 72,650,000 12.65
(%)
Excel Skill EmEAA 32,320,000 5.63
(Bt 5E2)
B TEAEER 192,000,000 33.44
(B 5%3)
Wealthplus Holdings Limited SERAEER 192,000,000 33.44
([ Wealthplus J) (P 5E3)
wmiT REEEER 192,000,000 33.44
(Bt 5E3)
Pou Hing Industrial Co. Ltd. TEAEER 192,000,000 33.44
([ Pou Hing ) (Bt 5E3)
Great Pacific Investments Limited EB&Hm#EAE A 192,000,000 33.44
([ Great Pacific ) (B$3E3)
B2k

1. Time Easy2MERTRAHBEERH -
2. Excel Skil2BEHTRAHFLLERE -

3. £%192,000,000f% & X 5] & {7 B Great  Pacific}§#8 ' Pou Hing#§ & Great Pacific2EB#E % - T EPou Hing2 S E TR A -
Wealthplus & Win Fortune Investments Ltd. ([ Win Fortune |) & B {5 B # 7047.95% &3.16% i1 + & A Bll 1 B Wealthplus &K Win
Fortune2 &% ° KUtk * Pou Hing ~ #47T * Wealthplus * Win Fortune 5 B B3 4% 18 % ¥ 5 H Great PacificFT 575 192,000,0008% &
ANE BB -

BREXAKEEN RIBZAF=ZAZ+—H BREXIEERTERASRROREERDZEZRTE | —H
FBEERARABITRERZEDI BECTAMALIRERDZROIEERO T BTHEBEAARBESR
BRI FIBOIF LR ZIERNTE -
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RUAMEFRE
REAFARBALHERZENRBEEANS  RAFHREH ALEEXETROBHPRI2B%ERRALE
ﬁ o

ESNHERBIER

BRAEBESN EETHEREZHBRARERTMAE S UEEAEBESEESBHEREZEEYTES
B o

FAEALRS
FEEBE_F_AFZA=Z+—HLEFENBAEALIRSHFBEHNRNMBRRMEIS - RAFREEE 77 i
D —EHAESIEERS ] -8R HthEERZE2ERE LHRAUBI4ATHR 2 BIIRERME FEE
RNFIERBERE -

F B LR

AEBBEECTEAF-AZ+-HLFENEBLOE  S8E{EB TRERREHREAEERKREROTH
BRAFHRFCECTAZIMBRE| FBEVTHZIERBE I RF7T4ZBZ[EEETREN NI ZEN - K
S [ 1 3 1) [ B 550 BR B 1R B 75 R AR Y RESG ©

BHRRRRR
$$lﬁﬂ?7ﬂ§%27ﬁ ERRFLEMN QERERS ARRNAEMAZERER FEECHILE
RUSEANBERRERE - REEFE AEEEFEARES  PEKE DR RSHENEEERRER -

AEEFIRMIBE 8 REA (ESC ) BR 2 MRS TIINESGHRE P - BB B IL BN XA K
AR B ROHBBE P ©

EFHEBRERRER
REBEFE BAREAN AEEEETHERASEEEFTERTEZHERERERER -
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EFERE (B)

5 5 [O] B8 ()

HES FEF KRR #EERHEMAGSOENRRF

AEENBERDBRRAEENEE EF BRRREEFENZFENE -FAEERREAEZENRFNHE
HEREERENATEEALERFINFHSEREES IEIIARRE RENORERRTENIAERE
itz 7 52 e HA [ #5 48 1= it 35 3l -

AEERNRUEZFEANEERA AEERFMNAEHERINGERE CER(EFPEE) QAL
(https://www.eaglenice.comE BB R BB Z HP—EIRE -

ARBEEUTIHARERREEMAGHNEBSE : (BTREBFARE EURHKEERFERHEESRY
BE (NAXBRBETRAUZRENRLQE F8H  PHRER FEREFTHBREAEBRZRRNKTELR
RiArBEBEREAEEZRNES -

REHENEER
REBEBREREZAREAN AEEBRBEEAFA -

1% B A

RAXEHMELZABERNSE  ARASREERREFASREFHEBES RN RBAIZRESR -

KREFE

e
EEH
BE “E_AFNA+—H



AEERNEFSKFZEEER BRASERE BEUERBIMZRA - AABRMALETRAMEHKCI(RE
BRTAD(EEE AT E2RAHZTURXEAREEEERERNTE RBEE-FAF=RA=+—H
LFE BRAGEELSREMRZRES ARF—EETEEE QTR E28ATE A F AR ([SFRAMES) -
FRARMEERARAGEEREEE -

1. EEE
2. EECHENREZESES

REBEFE ERTHOREFTEEL " RBREXG REAFE SEEEZEAKRESFHEESS
Enﬁ&ﬂ&%kﬁ.ZHEﬁ?ﬁﬁuyu—F

HiE BT HE BT

EEl4H EEEEERY BERXERE
HITEE
B\EAHLE(EFE) 4/4 1/1
BN & (B EE) 4/4 il
TR GST L (TTBIAEEE) 4/4 1/1
=KL 4/4 1/1
BRI EL L 4/4 1/1
BHAELXEL(BZE-_EFE=ZB=HEEZF) 11 0/0
SR E 4/4 11
SBRALCE(BEZE_NFAB _AREEZFE) 2/2 0/0
HEMLE (B -NENB Z HERT) 2/2 1/1
BUFHTESE
BERLE 4/4 1/1
BREELZLT 4/4 11
R2HRESE 4/4 11
BRABRE 4/4 1/1

REREREGHEERSREEERE | —HNBELREETNEE BREIFEBEHELERPITES
RAQNBITEHAR((TRAERD BEREEZRBEIN BRARBMRN EFETREZH L ENLE -
X% XBHEMERKAMEEBIR -
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1. EETw

b.

EFERESTL

RELEERTH EFECE_F=ZF+_RERNESTETHESZTABRR(EFTEXESTK
BE])  ZBER-FBI=ZF=ZRAEBI - AR HAALRGFEFERNESLTANED  LRREE
EEEEEMZTH NRERFEZINEERLR —FAEEZTUNESEREELEREENE
B WERTEER BR EER UIEMREFIEANEN AR EEEEFTHENRE
MERRER LAER LEBUEEEMMNUFEH FAEEFERENESYUBABESTBRA
WERDPELEFERESTHUNERNRT  REBRGEGEERBAE-

REAZEEEFEIRUARSTEERSZ T SFEERTRRMEL - F88 - BIK - KiE - XEEK
BER EXERLNY REZEETHETHRRILBE  SEFLEARKESTZER  LiRH
BIEFRBNAR ZENEMRZHNE HESIHE-

BE_F_AF=-AZ+—HLFE EXFTERITEFTTHESZTHUERRNRTERREN 1R
REBBEXR -

R Z T

ANBEABRREEEUNE— UHRBASENEEZRTIRBIETENENZTL - AR F
HEEEFTNMENZTURREAEENEERR UABETTFRESER BN Z TR
NREEEAHEEREANEZERRZZ - RAGEXERRSAY EFTH=-2ALMHEERNES
MEREN EFERR TRIAQAMNEEFTE EFTVUNSZTALERSARE -

AARERAEBRIREINMERNZTA - TREINAEEET (BREFERSREERE) RALEE
AW E B HRAMERI LA -

gedd B4
EEg 25%(3) 75%(9)
SHREERE 44%(4) 56 % (5)
HtEE 79%(14,835) 21%(3,943)
HEST 79%(14,842) 21%(3,957)
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EREBUMEENEERER YRBEETFHEZRIR BB IFNTEENRAB/IAL -

BRBIFRATEFZERR=ZF  EXAZERGHINEETEZZERRRMAENE -

EFRRITHRBE

SAMFEXEC2IMRINAERFRITHBENACEFEDEFNEHE - ALEF EFAXTEEBE T
E_HFERFIEFEEIF VE_F—ZFANB=THEEETRER B-T_WOFABE-AER
BECTRBR B-F_MNENAHE ATEFREFAXEZTEEARATEAERTHAE
AW EERTHRER2ACRBERNEALEE-

BEE-F_MNMFMNA—AES_NFNA—BZOEHANE LA RMNER EFTIRZHHE
NEFTHASHEEEZANENRERFELERE AAXAEERARAEBRBLEENR
RARRAEEEB LNETENHHIAEEEE -

EXEEREEEZABCESD
%%;.,\HﬁfZK%lZEHﬂ&Iﬁ&ﬂx%ﬂﬁ EEXERRET EFGUEER ERZNEEEE
BEEAKEEY EREDHAEENGHY EFTNTEBIEREUTRE:

HEAEEED BERAZOEER BEAEEEEL:

HE BRREEAEENBREEBERRF

BERMMEREBNESE EARBREEEE &

BERESLEER NPEE EREELAUFEZREEABENERLEEEERER -
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BEFETw

f.

EEEREEEZABED W
PTEFSHAEEXEBHVARESE NFERAQTISREEENE HAREEEHEFEEH
THREAHKRREE SHREEENIEBREEENTRE:

s ENTAKEEBELENHEERE:

s HOTAEENEBE KB

e R BTRMEEEEREMNEAREERNBEERG &
e EBERIZAEEIZIXZBEBRNRR-

EFETRE
BEEFETHAEBEIREEFAESEEEREENSET EREFTETHEBER  FEEIK
HETEET:

() AREANEHRELEZET BEREET RELZEELFHEET -ZZEGHNER BHRE
BERNEAREEREBEERE LAHEEETRE

(i) TEAES HERREEASEXFENAEEER LAHEEEEE R
(i) AEENSAEEERK HEERZREDBLEIFNET LTRAHNEFTEE -

EFETHRNERETHE  UERERAREECAEENRTRARREAGENBRBERR
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EXERHE (B)

BEFETw

h.

ERERHEAE
EXZRIERTEEXERBE B8

HEMBAAEENEEEBRRRER
BRAREREERSREEENBIIRSEEXRRE
BARERAEEERETEREREERENHREER

HE BARBEEEAREEREENTATE BIREGRFM: X
BENAEEBETEEERTHRALEE RRENMWE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
GoaR

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_FE_AF=ZFA=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—EBE_RE “EIE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET TFET
REVENUE BRI 5 4,807,899 4,074,668
Cost of sales HE A (4,035,190) (3,325,976)
Gross profit EF 772,709 748,692
Other income and gains, net EMmBARIKE  F58 5 21,073 19,855
Selling and distribution expenses & &2 #HAX (39,766) (27,949)
Administrative expenses THRHEX (356,554) (308,163)
Other operating expenses HM&EERX (4,626) (8,177)
Finance costs & A 6 (69,015) (43,479)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B 78 B 35 A 7 323,821 380,779
Income tax expense FrEMmAX 10 (95,290) (108,746)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEA 228,531 272,033
Attributable to: FE1L -
Owners of the Company FN/NEIEZE SN 217,201 263,510
Non-controlling interests R ERER 11,330 8,523
228,531 272,033
EARNINGS PER SHARE EABHEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS EiLEREF
OF THE COMPANY 12
Basic =S/N HK38.5 cents HK49.3 cents
38.55& 1l 49.3%1
Diluted #E HK38.5 cents HK49.3 cents
38.57E 1l 49.3%1




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GoEEBER

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_FE_AF=ZHA=+—HIFE

2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&T THET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEH 228,531 272,033
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE Hit2mEmXZH
Other comprehensive expense that will not REZIBARAEFTEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in BamWEMeEXE
subsequent periods:
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans EEEMNFEZEEEE (58) (1,117)
Other comprehensive expense that may be REZIEAEETRTEE
reclassified to profit or loss in ERWEMeEXE
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of EBINEBZERER
foreign operations (48,659) (83,874)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR FEHftt £m X% H
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (EMBFRE) (48,717) (84,991)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR HEL£HEKEEE
THE YEAR 179,814 187,042
Attributable to: FEL -
Owners of the Company FN/NEIEZE SN 168,586 181,303
Non-controlling interests TR EER 11,228 5,739
179,814 187,042
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FaMEBERRR

31 March 2025
¥ TAFE=Z/A=+—H

2025 2024
- =Sl - 5 —ENE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B = F#ET FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRXE 13 1,319,765 1,018,153
Right-of-use assets FERESE 14(a) 474,188 351,961
Goodwill BeE 16 163,922 104,076
Intangible assets mEEE 17 — 2,116
Deposits BE 15 54,129 41,916
Total non-current assets ERBEELEE 2,012,004 1,518,222
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 7E 18 962,565 704,869
Accounts receivable & W BR FX 19 460,403 324,572
Prepayments, deposits and other TN FIE - & K&
receivables HMERRIEAE 15 150,256 128,487
Tax recoverable o] K B #3218 345 3,195
Restricted bank balance IR ER 1T 45 B8R 20 1,071 1,084
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTTH R 20 387,390 490,058
Total current assets MEBEEHEE 1,962,030 1,652,265
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENARE
Accounts payable F& < BR 3Kk 21 319,398 306,698
Accrued liabilities and other ExtEaEREM
payables F& {4 SIE 23 177,626 164,851
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it EIRITEX 24 1,307,462 651,074
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 7,425 3,366
Tax payable iR 1E 101,872 85,179
Total current liabilities MENEEEE 1,913,783 1,211,168
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEERE 48,247 441,097
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEHZENRREB&E
LIABILITIES 2,060,251 1,959,319
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Pension scheme obligation BAESFEIEME 25 24,620 20,387
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it RIR{TE R 24 140,040 258,390
Lease liabilities HEasd 14(b) 10,384 317
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEBEE 26 61,117 45,809
Total non-current liabilities EREEERE 236,161 324,903
Net assets BEFE 1,824,090 1,634,416




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

HEMBRAR(E)
31 March 2025
—E-AFZAZ+—A

2025 2024 123
- =Rl - = —EFEE
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Ff 5% FET FET

EQUITY Bx
Equity attributable to owners of AR FIHEE AEIGELE
the Company

Issued capital EZTERA 27 5,742 5,338

Reserves s 28 1,748,587 1,570,545
1,754,329 1,575,883

Non-controlling interests IR R E R 69,761 58,533

Total equity EXRMBEE 1,824,090 1,634,416

CHUNG YUK SING CHEN HSIAO YING

EEA R/

Director Director

EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GERREYR

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_FE_AF=ZFA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAFAREARL

Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium Capital surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

B&fT (3] BE EX FER
B&* HEk EAEE BURER  OREEE BEERA 4 RRER EH
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TET TET TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
(Note 28)  (Note 28)
(ites)  (Ma28)

275 &5 (FE) €8 qILINITSONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 391N 319V3

At 1 April 2023 RZIBZ=£mA-H 5,338 573910 (229) 118,089 (5,844) 938,188 1,629,452 52,794 1,682,246
Profit for the year FE&ET - - - - - 263,510 263,510 8523 272,033
Other comprehensive expense for the year: EEEMLARY ¢

Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans EERAGAZEEEE - - - - - 1,17 1,17 - 1,17

Exchange differences on translation of foreign REBMBZERER

operations - - - - (81,090) - (81,090) (2,784) (83,874)

Total comprehensive income/lexpense) for EELANG/ (X B8

the year - - - - (81,090) 262,393 181,303 5,739 187,042
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BRTEERBHEE - - - 17,848 - (17,848) - - -
Special 2023 dividend ZFIZERIRE " - - - - - (32,028) (32,028) - (32,028)
Final 2023 dividend ZFIZERBRE " - - - - - (42,704) (42,704) - (42,704)
Interim 2024 dividend R mERERS 1 - - - - = (160,140)  (160,140) - (160,140)
At 31 March 2024 RIB-ZME=ZR=+-H 5338 573,910% (229 135937* (86,934)*  947,861* 1,575,883 58,533 1,634,416
At 1 April 2024 RIBZMEMA-H 5,338 573,910 (229) 135,937 (86,934) 947,861 1,575,883 58,533 1,634,416
Profit for the year EEEA = = = = = 217,201 217,201 11,330 228,531
Other comprehensive expense for the year: EEEMLARY ¢

Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans EERAGAZEEEE = = = = = (58) (58) - (58)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign REBMBZERER

operations = = = = (48,557) = (48,557) (102) (48,659)

Total comprehensive income/lexpense) for the EELANG/ (XL B8

year = = = = (48,557) 217,143 168,586 11,228 179,814
Issue of shares Bfkb 27 404 181,710 = = = = 182,114 - 182,114
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BRTAERBRE = = = 19,364 = 19,364) - - -
Final 2024 dividend “ECRERBRE 1 = = - - - (45,934)  (45,934) - (45,934)
Interim 2025 dividend “RCRENERE 11 - = = = - (1263200  (126,320) - (126320)
At 31 March 2025 RIZZHE=F=1-H 5,742 755,620% (229)*  155,301%  (135491)*  973,386* 1,754,329 69,761 1,824,090

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEREBREOBRIRNGEMBIRARNGEHE
HK$1,748,587,000 (2024: HK$1,570,545,000) in the consolidated 1,748,587,000%& 7Tt (Z=F P4 : 1,570,545,000
statement of financial position. BIT) °

124



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHERER

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_FE_AF=ZHA=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-hE == vj: 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&T TFET
CASH FLOWS FROM REBEXBZRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 15 B & #) 323,821 380,779
Adjustments for: BUTIEBRE
Bank interest income RITFI 2N (3,150) (5,502)
Finance costs A& A 69,015 43,479
Depreciation of property, plant ME BMERRXEBINE
and equipment 126,101 99,355
Depreciation of right-of-use FEREESENE
assets 25,869 19,669
Amortisation of intangible EREEBH
assets 2,116 2,821
Loss on disposal of items of HEME WMEKRKRHEE
property, plant and BEE 38
equipment, net 4,626 341
Income derived from financial BATEETANBHEN SR
assets at fair value through BEMSKE
profit or loss (928) (2,264)
547,470 538,678
Increase in inventories FEEM (252,476) (27,685)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts  FEWER FUR 4~ (1& 10)
receivable (131,899) 20,541
Increase in prepayments, deposits FAftFRIE - & & K H & K
and other receivables FIEE N (15,682) (5,118)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts  FETERFIE AN, GRZD)
payable 12,700 (69,046)
Decrease in accrued liabilities and & 5t & & K& H {th F& < 518
other payables D (14,590) (53,163)
Increase/(decrease) in pension BRAREFrEIEFEEM
scheme liabilities G ) 5,769 (1,603)
Settlement of pension scheme EERKESFEIET
liabilities (302) (28)
Decrease in restricted bank ZIRHIIRITEEER
balance MR 13 59
Exchange realignment BE &2 A B (4,807) (6,808)
Cash generated from operations &EELXZRS 146,196 395,827
Interest paid EMAR (69,015) (43,479)
Hong Kong profits tax refund/ BHR(EMEBBAESR
(paid) 222 (40,172)
Overseas tax paid EfENRIE (77,549) (82,903)
Net cash flows from/(used in) RE(FARIRBREEHKZ
operating activities He&Ene#E (146) 229,273
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

SeRERER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_FE_AF=ZFA=1+—HIFE

2025 2024

“EB-hE —EINE

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5% FET TFHET

CASH FLOWS FROM RERETBZRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of items HEYXE MENKXEER

78 B3 (35 0E) €% QILIANITSONIATIOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 319V3

of property, plant and FTiS I35

equipment, net 4,091 11,852
Purchases of items of property, HBEYXEX WMENKXEER

plant and equipment (239,447) (131,744)
Purchases of leasehold land BEHEE M 14(a) (5,613) (119,618)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB A E 29 (30,746) —
Bank interest received EKIRITHER 3,150 5,502
Income derived from financial BEATEFABEN

assets at fair value through SREEMS KRG

profit or loss 928 2,264
Placement of non-current portion TEAIEENHASE D% &

of deposits (54,129) (39,953)
Net cash flows used in investing FARKREZFFH =

activities REeRnERE (321,766) (271,697)
CASH FLOWS FROM REMETBZRERE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Drawdown of bank loans, net REIRITERRE 414,653 287,102
Dividends paid EMEKRE 11 (172,254) (234,872)
Principal portion of lease HEREXAEIBD

payments (7,468) (9,686)
Net cash flows from financing REMETFEHZ

activities ReRERE 234,931 42,544
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HE2kBE£ZEHER

CASH AND CASH @GR ) #E

EQUIVALENTS (86,981) 120
Cash and cash equivalents at FOzREkREEEER

beginning of year 490,058 515,387
Effect of foreign exchange rate  FEER# &)~ &£ & 3%E

changes, net (15,687) (25,449)
CASH AND CASH FRzZ2AERALEEEER

EQUIVALENTS AT END OF

YEAR 387,390 490,058
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
BARERER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_FE_AFZHA=1+—HIFE

2025 2024

—E"hEF —EFmE

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5% FET FET

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERkREEEFEEBZ

CASH AND CASH HERON

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RE RIBTHEER 20 238,504 454,776
Non-pledged time deposits with HREESRKRZEIEH

original maturity of less than TBE=EAH

three months when acquired EIRFTEHER 20 149,957 36,366
Less: Restricted bank balance R R IR AT AR 20 (1,071) (1,084)
Cash and cash equivalents as GEREeRERMBZES

stated in the consolidated kEE&%EEIER

statement of cash flows 387,390 490,058

ZE T AFFEH Annual Report 2025

127

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED 3% (B BR) = BB R A &

J



’f Annual Report 2025 — &8 — AEF R

NOTES T0 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R R

31 March 2025
¥ TAFE=Z/A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands. The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong will be changed to 9th Floor, Tower B, Regent
Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
with effect from 12 June 2025.

The Group’s principal activities are the manufacture and
trading of sportswear and garments.

78 B3 (35 0E) €% QILIANITSONIATIOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 319V3

ARREEEH

KRBARASHEIMBIZARA
B o AN &) 5 i #¥ 5 BE i 3k R Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman
Islands e R A B 2 EB T EL E MBS
BNABBSE AT EREGSRERT DB
O - BZFE_AFANATZHEEN -

FEEZIEEBREEREEEHR
HE R

Information about subsidiaries MEBARZ&ER

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARNBEENBLAEFBUT -

follows:

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ equity attributable
registration and Issued share/paid-up lt\o_the Company
business registered capital FAE I REE DL

Name I B&1TRiz/ 2025 2024  Principal activities

218 BREREEME BREAMES el T ONE FEER

Eagle Nice (EAG) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2; 100 100 Investment holding

ExX(EXEE)BARAH 5E Non-voting deferred HK$10,000 BEEK

(Note (a))

LER2ET
R FEELR0,000% T
(B5E(a))

BECLSE) MRERAR The People’s Republic of  US$23,500,000 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
("YM (Shantou)”) (Note (b)) China ("PRC")/ 23,500,0003 7T sportswear and garments
(M85 ) ) (H b)) Chinese Mainland FEREEEPHRERMK

REARLME
([RE)) /FEKXE

Eagle Nice Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Manufacture and trading of
EXERBRAA 5% 1387T sportswear and garments

HERBEREDRERBK
Maitex (EAG) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 100  Manufacture and trading of
R (EXEE)BERAF B 1,000 7T sportswear and garments

SEREREDHREREK

BERBREURERAE PRC/Chinese Mainland HK$40,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
("Maitex PRC") (Note (b)) R B K BE 40,000,000 75 sportswear and garments
(TERF®]) (M b)) GEREEEHRERMK

IS EEERRERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 100,000,000 80 80  Manufacture and trading of
("Hubei Dongneng”) (Note (c)) HE REKE A R #100,000,0007C sportswear and garments
(MEAcEhae ) (M E(c)) HERBEREDHREREK
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued share/paid-up

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBRWE(R)

31 March 2025

—FZAEZAZ+—H

1. AEIREERER =

MEBABZER ®)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Principal activities

E3:33 ]

business registered capital ARG E 5

Name i BTk 2025 2024

&8 BRREEIME YRAMEER ZEhF byl

Pro Kingtex Vietnam Co., Limited Vietnam US$7,800,000 100 100

g 7,800,000% 7T

% (FiF) MRAR QA PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB35,000,000 80 80
("EN (Jingmen)") (Note (c)) FE/ HEIARE A\ R #35,000,0007T
(=GP D (MEEC)

ERBEEHXERRE PRC/Chinese Mainland US$4,000,000 100 100
("Hung Eagle Garment”) (Note (b)) FE R E AR 4,000,000% 7T
(TEREE] (K D)

P.T. Eagle Nice Indonesia (“EN Indonesia”) Indonesia US$32,000,000 100 100
(TExME) ENfE 32,000,000% 7T

Bx(EE)RKRERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland US$28,000,000 100 100
("EN (Yifeng)") (Note (b)) FE R E AR 28,000,000% 7T
(TEx(ES) ) (MEEb)

PT Gelindo Garmentama (“PGG") Indonesia IDR889,350,000,000 100 100
(TPGG D) Efe 889,350,000,000E [E &

ERERGIRERAE PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 18,000,000 100 100
("Guangdong Dalian") (Note (b)) R/ E A A B#18,000,00075
(TEERES ) (M aEb)

B (L) HXERRE PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB18,000,000 100 100
("EN (Foshan)") (Note (b)) FE R E AR A E#18,000,0007T
(T (#1L) )) (B (b))

Eagle Nice Vietnam Company Limited Vietnam US$6,500,000 100 100
("Eagle Nice Vietnam") wE 6,500,000 7T
(I Eagle Nice Vietnam |)

Wisdom Innovation Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000,000 100 —
("Wisdom”) (Note (d)) EREBRES 20,000,000% 7T
(I'Wisdom 1) (K& (d))

Profit Honors Limited Hong Kong US$20,000,000 100 —
(“Profit Honors") (Note (d)) 5E 20,000,000 7T
(I'Profit Honors J) (Mt & (d) )

Din Sen Vietnam (Long An) Vietnam US$17,200,000 100 —
Enterprise Company Limited (21 17,200,000% 7T

("Din Sen”) (Note (d))
(I'Din Sen ])(HiE(d))

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREEEHRERER

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREDRERAR

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREEEHREREK

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREBRERAR

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREEEHREREK

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

FEREEEBRERAR

Leasing properties

HEME

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREEEHRERER

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREBRERAR

Investment holding

Investment holding

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

FEREREBRERAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025

—FCAF=

A=1+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(c)

The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends,
no rights to attend or vote at general meetings and no rights
to receive any surplus assets in a return of capital in a
winding-up (other than the nominal amount paid up or
credited as paid-up on such shares, after the sum of
HK$100,000,000,000,000 per ordinary share has been
distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares of the
company in such winding-up).

M (Shantou), Maitex PRC, Hung Eagle Garment, EN (Yifeng),
Guangdong Dalian and EN (Foshan) are registered as
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

Hubei Dongneng and EN (Jingmen) are registered as limited
liability companies under PRC law.

On 1 July 2024, the Group acquired Wisdom together with its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Profit Honors and Din Sen. Further
details of this acquisition are included in note 29 to the
financial statements.

All of the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the
Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

rEIREEER @

MEBARZER @)

CER

(a)

BEERECRUYEEFNERKS  HFE
BEASTHAETLERE  REEESTSEER
BEEARESTARMNSBREE BRRER
I % 48 £2100,000,000,000,00038 JT 73 ik
FRAEAEBEREEAR BHEEMHZHE
SHARIIEB BV EERRN) ©

WMECLE) BXREH BXREE Ex
(BEE) EREHIEX(FHLREPER

EERAMZSIEBERSE -

AL B RERE R (FIFT) BIRBHBEIERET
MzBREERE -

_F_MEtBE—HBH A5KEKE
WisdomiZ [& H Hf & 22 Al Profit Honors&
Din Sen o AR W IER B RN M B HRERM
F¥29 °

LRFEMNBABRANEBERSE -

ERINEAREWELE  MEEERR

CREARHAEEFNEERERY

ﬁﬁ‘k%ﬁizﬁﬁlﬁﬁé{EZEE“B“ S

EERERRR  FINEHMHBLIDERR
EEREBEARITR



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2025. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other

vote holders of the investee;
(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises
the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards for the first time for
the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current (the “2020
Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance
Arrangements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the
seller-lessee does not recognise any amount
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of
use it retains. Since the Group has no sale
and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate occurring from the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, including what is
meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible
liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

2.3

disclosures (continued)

(b)  (continued)
The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 April 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial
application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.

(¢)  Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify
the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity's
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier
finance arrangements, the amendments did
not have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
Accounting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, if applicable, when they become
effective.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability:
Disclosures®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of and
Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its and
Associate or Joint
Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability’

Contracts Referencing
Nature-department
Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. While a number of sections
have been brought forward from HKAS 1 with
limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new
requirements for presentation within the statement
of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit
or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a
single note and introduces enhanced requirements
on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary
financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are
moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed
as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial
Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of
HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
conseguential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently
analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and
disclosure of the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRS Accounting
Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the
reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as
defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and
must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that
prepares consolidated financial statements available
for public use which comply with HKFRS
Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it
is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of
the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy
option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are
met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other
component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and
can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 17 set out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
The amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and
paragraphs 1G1, 1G14 and 1G20B of the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the
standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in
the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continued)

The Group is

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The
amendments clarify that when a lessee has
determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of
HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A
of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion.
Earlier application is permitted.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is
just one example of various relationships that
might exist between the investor and other
parties acting as de facto agents of the
investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of
HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term cost
method” with "'at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the
definition of ‘'cost method”. Earlier
application is permitted.

in the process of making an

assessment of the impact of these revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards upon initial application and is
not yet in a position to state whether these revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards would have a

significant

impact on the Group’'s results of

operations and financial position.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.
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MEERRE(R)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the
net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for

which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories and financial assets), the
asset’'s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’'s or cash-generating unit's value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each
reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss
is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(il) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or
member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

is a

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 50 years
Leasehold Over the shorter of the
improvements lease terms and 20%
Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures, 20%
equipment and motor
vehicles

2.

R 2
24 EXRESHEE®E)

VE BERRERTE

ME - BB REE(EEZLIERM
T332 A B R IR T & R AR B /&S
BIR -ME BENMKEERENK
AEREBANEREMAEEEEE
BRI R EAFREREZHRE
HER A -

ME- BERSEEEEFRAE
ERX IMEERREER  —
RREHEERELHBBEERRN
B ENOHERBHEENEBERT K
REGENEAREENKRAEEER
AUBER - HYE - BERRE
MEZMDAPRER  AEEK
ZEHNEIRBILEE LRTE
BEMAERFHERERE -

HERSENE BERBEZE
£ 765 PR 4 0 BB A A M L L
EHMGEME - R BNFARAZ
TEERMT

BF 20E 504
HEYEEE BREEHZ20%
(UBEEAE)
R 5 R ER 10% ZE20%
RE-HEE-  20%
HRERAE



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Customer relationship is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of 6 years.

Backlog is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of 1 year.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that
contains a lease component and a non-lease
component, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate the non-lease component
and to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease component (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component.

2.

R 2
24 EXRESHEE®E)

BEEEE (BEFI) &

&R BRI IR B R R 5t # 5 &OR
BEEEBIR- - BEDUERERE
st A ERFHeFFE

KRR E R Th IR AR R 5 3E &
TAEE RS AR o BT UE AR
HAF A ERFMFHE -

#HE
FEERGHNRBRKIHENES
HEEREEHEE - HEHOETFR
—BRRENAEFHERNEERS
R DUBREARE  IRE0AE
ExRaHEE-

AEEFBABA
AEEHMEHE(ERBEER
REEEEHERMN RRE—#
BREETE - AEEEREESR
BEUEHBEEMNR MEREEE
EERHEREENER -

ERMEENTGEESEEEER
DRFHEEBLEINEHE &
ESERBAUTEEA L LADH
FEESMEMED - HEHAE D HE
HENFEEEEARE D (NYEAR
ENYXEERB SFE—HE
HERER D NER °



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Plant

20 to 60 years
Over 1 year to
6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of machinery and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset's
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of accounts receivable that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts
receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

KR @
24 EXEHEE®E)

RERAMEMEE &)

WIA%’MJ\& _LfS‘E (‘&‘t)
AEBEEEEMEENEBELXE
HNEEEsmMEENEL RS
NE EXBEAETHERERS
REKBEGENEERE HESR
ﬁ?‘c—iﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁiﬁ_ R AR
NERAENEREENREERES
THEEMNKRNENRERENE
BERERAPHE MERAFEFTAHE
HEEREIERFENEHEE
RETKNENREREUREE
NEBEXPER TEBRLAKE
BERERIANEMEERATEANE
WOEREE -

BEARHEXREZRRORTHIZED
—RRENVHBEARNTEEN SR
EERRZH AEEABZEBASR

HEEEMNBHR) ER -

H& &
TRHEENHERFER/RUTIEM
E .

REHEBRAGFENEREE (B
¥BITH)
REBHEHRAGTENEHREERRE
AERMEEFTENL A R RER
Z -BEEHRER BT RE
B NS REEBRIERRPER -

ZF - REFH Annual Report 2025

155

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED 3% (B BR) = BB R A &



G3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNY3LNI) 3DIN 319V3

(=7 & & 3 = (351 ) SE 8l

156

Annual Report 2025 — &8 — AEF R

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on the
equity investments are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are more than 90 days
past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the
Group evaluates whether the debt investments are
considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for accounts receivable which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include accounts
payable, financial liabilities included in accrued
liabilities and other payables, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (accounts
and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, accounts and other
payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs,
for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Revenue from the sale of sportswear and garments
and provision of related subcontracting services is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
assets or services is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of sportswear and garments.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Chinese Mainland and Vietnam are
required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension schemes. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension schemes.

Defined benefit plan

The Group operates a defined benefit plan for the
employees of its subsidiaries in Indonesia through
an unfunded pension plan. The cost of providing
benefits under the defined benefit plan is
determined using the projected unit credit actuarial
valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit
pension plan, comprising actuarial gains and losses,
the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net
interest) and the return on plan assets (excluding
net interest), are recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position with a
corresponding debit or credit to retained profits
through other comprehensive income in the period
in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss
at the earlier of:

° the date of the plan amendment or
curtailment; and

° the date that the Group recognises
restructuring-related costs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plan (continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
The Group recognises the following changes in the
net defined benefit obligation under “cost of sales”
and "administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

° service costs comprising current service costs,
past service costs, gains and losses on
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and

° net interest expense or income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed
and declared.

Special dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed special dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain Chinese
Mainland and overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to
non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, their
accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2025 was
HK$163,922,000 (2024: HK$104,076,000). Further details
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group determines that
there are six reportable operating segments, based on
the locations of customers (the destinations of sales),
including Chinese Mainland, the United States of
America (the "USA"), Europe, South Korea, Japan and
Others. These segments are managed separately as each
segment is subject to risks and returns that are different
from one another.

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group's profit before
tax except that interest income and other unallocated
income and gains, and unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

During the vyear, management changed the Group's
reporting segments to (a) Chinese Mainland; (b) USA; (c)
Europe; (d) South Korea; (e) Japan; and (f) Others as a
result of the growing importance of South Korea to the
operation of the Group. The corresponding information
for the year ended 31 March 2024 has been represented
accordingly.

4.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4, BEDEER w
|NFORMAT|ON (continued)
2025 k- Sl T 3

Chinese South
Mainland USA Europe Korea Japan Others  Consolidated

PEAE e ExM HE B  HithE ]

HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

Segment revenue:  DEEEK ¢
Sales to external HETFHA
customers b4l 2,471,254 985,367 609,789 196,704 116,783 428,002 4,807,899

Segment results PEXE 347,093 128,530 89,406 43,230 23,807 100,877 732,943

Interest income and ~ F| BUWA R E At
other unallocated FEEBAR

275 &5 (FE) €8 qILINITSONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 391N 319V3

income and gains g 16,447
Unallocated FREEXH
expenses (425,569)
Profit hefore tax CRikIp-al 323,821
Income tax expense  FTSHREX (95,290)
Profit for the year ~ EE#F 228,531
Segment assets PEEE 1,216,481 851,143 477,046 136,056 82,102 326,380 3,089,208
Unallocated assets KRR EE 884,826
Total assets BERE 3,974,034
Segment liabilities D EAE 267,244 155,432 84,367 27,558 16,083 63,658 614,342
Unallocated liabilities K& i & & 1,535,602
Total liabilities BEAR 2,149,944
Other segment HtnBER -
information:
Depreciation and TEREH
amortisation 49,234 32,297 18,719 4,331 2,709 17,617 124,907
Unallocated amounts KR i &% 29,179
154,086
Capital expenditure*  BAREX* 56,641 207,598 81,161 5,899 6,329 55,759 413,387
Unallocated amounts <& E &% 178,050
591,437
* Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and * EARXIEREYE BERZREURTE
equipment and leasehold land including assets from the Eti BEKENRBLARANEE -

176 acquisition of subsidiaries.



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHBEER @ 177
|NFORMAT|ON (continued)
2024 —EomE
Chinese South
Mainland USA Europe Korea Japan Others Consolidated
RE AR %H B B Ax  Eft#E )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
Segment revenue:  DEEEK ¢
Sales to external HETFHA
customers EF 2,332,360 728,809 488,067 152,515 88,984 283,933 4,074,668
Segment results NEEE 458,933 99,264 76,133 26,646 14,979 46,397 722,352
Interest income and ~ F| BUWA R E At
other unallocated FRERAR
income and gains K& 19,514
Unallocated FREEXH
expenses (361,087)
Profit before tax CRiINal 380,779
Income tax expense  FIBHEX (108,746) E
Profit for the year  ERERFI 272,033 s
- oX
Segment assets NELBE 1,185,958 479,639 304,983 92,258 53,076 199,406 2,315,320 <
Unallocated assets ~ KBEEE 855,167
Total assets BEARE 3,170,487 m
Segment liabilities NELE 335,072 157,646 93,706 24730 15,561 58,962 685,677 =
[am}
Unallocated liabilities K& i & & 850,394 =
Total labilities BERE 1,536,071 2
=
Other segment HtpEER - =
o
information: -
Depreciation and FEREH =
amortisation 47,875 18,972 11,640 317 1,914 6,706 90,278 %
=
Unallocated amounts KR i &% 31,667 &5
=
121,845 E
Capital expenditure*  BAREX* 39,340 86,729 34,529 6,640 1,952 14,353 183,543 E
Unallocated amounts R &E &% 107,467 %
291,010
* Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and * EARXIERBEYE BEARZEURE

equipment and leasehold land.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4,

IN FORMAT'ON (continued)

Geographical information — non-current assets

REQHEERw

WEER — FRBEE

2025 2024
ZE"hEF “EITHE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFET

Hong Kong 5E 119,176 92,863
Chinese Mainland AR [E K B 900,420 842,123
Indonesia ElfE 380,052 332,284
Vietnam fiagez] 448,434 146,876
1,848,082 1,414,146

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes goodwill.

Information about major customers

Revenue derived from sales to customers which
amounted to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
is as follows:

EIFERBEEENEREEREBE

B2y TEERE-

FHERERMER

HERARBEAEEBEZKRAI0%

DEMERAOT :

2025 2024
ot Sl - —EE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Customer A ZBA 2,821,707 2,583,440
Customer B ZFB 1,050,785 644,691
Customer C EZFEC 623,871 721,749
4,496,363 3,949,880

The above amounts include sales to groups of entities
which are known to be under common control with
these customers.

EREREED-—HER(ZXFEER L

REFIELRIEH)OHEE -



REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 5.
GAINS, NET

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
—E-AFZAZ+—A

=R B H At A\ B
% 0 SR

BEBANZDWRAT -

2025 2024
—_E_ARE —EOEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Revenue from contracts with REEFELHONEERA
customers
— sale of sportswear and garments — BEERERBRKRHEE
and provision of related DY & 2 3E]
subcontracting services D ERE 4,807,899 4,074,668
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFAHAMNEERKA

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

(i) BEEXRKAEZH

2025 2024
it J 1§23 —EIE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET

Types of goods or services AmERERER

Sale of sportswear and B RE R EIRHEE

garments 4,799,156 4,071,097
Subcontracting services 2 BR% 8,743 3,571
Total #aEt 4,807,899 4,074,668
Geographical markets M [E T35
Chinese Mainland Fh B K s 2,471,254 2,332,360
USA =H 985,367 728,809
Europe BRM 609,789 488,067
South Korea [ 196,704 152,515
Japan HA 116,783 88,984
Others Hibith = 428,002 283,933
Total et 4,807,899 4,074,668

ZE T AFFEH Annual Report 2025
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND
GA'NS, NET (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information
(continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:

Pry
=
=

-l

fm

RN B B At A B I

R

KEEFRGHUNERBAN &)

(i)

Revenue recognised that was

RBEEHMIFAEGHNEEZ

PEERKAEHR (B

TRIITRBEHIFAGHERE
ZEABREHBERREXERAZE
ZE

2025 2024
“BAF —EBINE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET

included in contract liabilities ERREERA :

at the beginning of the

reporting period:
Sale of sportswear and BB RE KR E

garments 979 —
Performance obligation (i) EBAEE

Sale of sportswear and garments and
provision of related subcontracting services
The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the sportswear and garments and
payment is generally due within one to three
months from delivery.

Revenue from the sale of sportswear and garments
and provision of related subcontracting services is
recognised at the point in time when control of
goods is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of sportswear and garments.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements
because all the remaining performance obligations
in relation to the sale of sportswear and garments
and provision of related subcontracting services are
a part of contracts that have an original expected
duration of less than one year.

28 B JIR 5E 12 K TK 5 LU R FE #
16 7 E IR

B B AE R R A E B BR 5% K AL R
TR MAR—BRERMFR-—E=
B R PIEIE -

B B AR B e BB & DU R AE R
DERBZEXRANREYI=HIE
BREFRER —RBELEERN
8 B AR e A B o

ERFATEENE N"EEMNKRE
MEECRERTE D RER) 2R
ZEBRITERMBERMERE
kEHEBEOSRBEENMMER
BREOBEENREHHARIR—F
MENZz—8a -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 5. U AR HE I\ R IK 181

GAINS, NET (continued) o REE @
An analysis of other income and gains, net, is as HMBARKE  FEZ22FUOT -
follows:

2025 2024
- =Sl - —EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&ET FHET
Bank interest income WITFEUWAN 3,150 5,502
Income derived from financial assets X AFEFAEBREH
at fair value through profit or loss SMEEFMFKE 928 2,264
Government grants* BB &> 8,440 9,435
Foreign exchange gain, net ERINE  FEE 3,403 —
Scrap sales BREIEH & 1,007 —
Others Hith 4,145 2,654
Total other income and gains, net HAM WA K K= 48F 58 21,073 19,855
* Various government grants have been received by certain * AEEETRPBEKRERIZZHEABK
subsidiaries of the Group established in Chinese Mainland for NEERFRE UEERETERER
promoting the manufacturing industry and maintaining the BhEEE o % F 1 Bh & o R S R E R IR 1 F’
employment rate. There are no unfulfilled conditions or HEAKREIE - u\lg
contingencies relating to these grants. E
2
FINANCE COSTS 6. MERKE Eﬂ
gi&E‘
2025 2024 M
- =Sl - S “EFmE L
HK$'000 HK$'000 o
— j— | —
FHE FHT =
Interest on bank loans WITERME 68,110 43,241 é
Interest on lease liabilities HEa&fa2 g
(note 14(b)) (B EE14(0)) 905 238 2
Total @it 69,015 43,479 2
=
=
-
E
=
w
]
=
o
]
<
L
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BR#anEEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBEBRMETEALINR(GTN) TA&
(crediting): HEBRR/H :
2025 2024
—_E_ARE —_ENE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHBT
Cost of inventories sold EEFEERAR 4,035,190 3,325,976
Auditor's remuneration ZEEM M & 4,316 4,201
Depreciation of property, plant and  #% - BERZHITE
equipment (note 13)* (f$2%13) * 126,101 99,355
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE
(note 14(a))* (MezE14(a) ) * 25,869 19,669
Amortisation of intangible assets EmREEEEN(ME17)
(note 17) 2,116 2,821
Employee benefit expenses BERMIZE (REE
(excluding remuneration of the rEEBEEK
Group's directors and Chief THEZME —
Executive Officer — note 8): FfzEs) -
Wages and salaries TERFS 1,050,894 884,290
Pension contributions BARSHR 154,482 139,087
Less: Forfeited contributions” BRI — —
Net pension contributions BASHTFEE 154,482 139,087
Total employee benefit expenses* HAEERM XL 1,205,376 1,023,377
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net* BER (W) 518 - R (3,403) 7,836
Lease payments not included in the At AHEEEEFEN
measurement of lease liabilities HEMRIE (FaE14(c)) *
(note 14(c))* 217 314
Loss on disposal of items of HEYE BEKRZREER
property, plant and equipment, net®  Z K518 - JHEES 4,626 341
Income derived from financial assets X AFEFTANEBREH
at fair value through profit or loss EREEFS K (928) (2,264)

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

# These amounts are included in “Other income and gains, net”
(2024: "Other operating expenses”) on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

& These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses” on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

: MEAEEFEAREITARBEERHR
KFZERKHBER -

# ZETHANGEEEIRNEMBAR

W FEN(CZF_ME [HiEER
X)) e

& ZELHEHANGRBEARNIHMEE

Fx]d -



7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

* Included in the respective balances are the following amounts

which are also included in the cost of inventories sold
disclosed above:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

7. BRIREIEF 2
* LSEEREEUTIHALXFABEEEER
ERAZEHE

2025 2024
- =l - | ME
HK$°000 HK$'000
THETT FHTT
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERZREINE
equipment 101,111 74,524
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEINE 23,797 18,223
Employee benefit expenses EERAXH 1,004,728 856,924
Lease payments not included in T ANHEEEFEN
the measurement of lease liabilities HERE 217 314
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFRTHEHRME
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the AEEEERTHRESNSREST B

year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

BREMBRRBAJBHFLTHRA B
(X EMFEBI)EE383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) R (AfFE K
RE(RBEEFRER) RO B8 E
LI

2025 2024

—ES_hEF =)o =5

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Fees e 988 988

Other emoluments: Hittii < -

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EEREYET

in kind 17,190 16,653

Discretionary bonuses B & 78 4L 7,891 9,684

Pension scheme contributions BIAEFHEIER 2,100 2,034

Subtotal INET 27,181 28,271

Total st 28,169 29,259
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

m
>
(2}
Z 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EERTTHARME »
a3 EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
% (continued)
% (a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIEHTES
3% The fees paid to independent non-executive FERNAFRALERNTEEZHEESU
i directors during the year were as follows: T
o
o
% 2025 2024
& —®-RE —E-msE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
S FHET T35t
ﬁ Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho BREREE 247 247
Mr. Lu Chi Chant* B S fE - 231
B Ms. Tham Kit Wan ERERTL 247 247
B Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong RWERE 247 247
i Mr. Sun Yun-Ruin mABELEN 247 16
S Total @t 988 988
]
There were no other emoluments payable to the FERNWEAMEMEIIERTES
independent non-executive directors during the year ZHE(ZEZME (HF) o
(2024: Nil).
* Mr. Lu Chi Chant resigned as an independent * EMELEER-ZZT_ME=H/\H
non-executive director of the Company on 8 March BEAANDBIFERNTES -
2024.
A Mr. Sun Yun-Rui was appointed as an independent A BAETERZSE_ME=A/\H
non-executive director of the Company on 8 March EBETAARAABBYIERTES -
2024.

184



8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(continued)

(b) Executive directors

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025

—FCAF=ZHA=+—H

8. EENRTHUEEME »

(b)

BITES

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
fieBER BikE
s BMEH ol -geAal HEEES M&aE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TERT FET TET
2025 ZBChE
Executive directors: WITESE -
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing** BEAEE - 4,454 2,840 617 7,911
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying BN L& = 4,175 2,419 578 7,172
Mr. Chung Chi KitAA BEARKLENM = 1,768 1,385 245 3,398
Mr. Huang Yongbiao RN - 3,130 1,021 311 4,462
Ms. Chen Fang Mei mEEZL - 2,872 189 343 3,404
Ms. Lai Yin-Han® BEawLe - 9 - 6 100
Mr. Johnson Tong* Bt vl - 202 9 - 211
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung WEREE — 358 27 - 385
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho” HEMEE = 138 = = 138
Total Bt - 17,191 7,890 2,100 27,181
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e EEK Bire
e BEYEF BB 4L sTEIER &4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET TERT FHET FHET
2024 ZEINE
Executive directors: RITES -
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing** EELE — 4,324 2,830 599 7,753
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying RN A - 4,054 2,710 561 7,325
Mr. Chung Chi Kit BEALE — 1,716 1,530 239 3,485
Mr. Huang Yongbiao e — 3,065 2,276 302 5,643
Ms. Chen Fang Mei BmEELT — 2,800 184 333 3,317
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung WEREE — 347 27 — 374
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho EMEE - 347 27 — 374
Total Bt - 16,653 9,584 2,034 28,271

* %

Mr. Chung Yuk Sing is the Chairman and resigned as
the Chief Executive Officer
2 September 2024.

of the Company on

” BEARERAIREAR-FTNEF
NAZHBEARABITHRAH -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(continued)

(b) Executive directors (continued)
AN Mr. Chung Chi Kit was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 2 September 2024.

@ Ms. Lai Yin-Han was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 3 March 2025.

# Mr. Johnson Tong was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 2 September 2024.

% Mr. Hu Chia-Ho resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 2 September 2024.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.

The directors’ remuneration shown above does not
include the estimated monetary value of the
Group's owned premises provided rent-free to an
executive director, Mr. Chung Yuk Shing, during
the year. The estimated rental value of such
accommodation for the year ended 31 March 2025
was HK$127,000 (2024: HK$140,000).

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2024: four) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining one (2024: one)
non-director, highest paid employee for the year ended
31 March 2025 are set out below:

8. EENRITTHHEARKIME »

(b) MITEH#H)
"~ EEESENR-S_ONENLAZH
BEZEAEXATITHAESR -

e BASTLLINR-S-_AE=H=H
EZEAARBANTES -

# BRASERZS_MENAZH
EBEZEAEXABTNTES -

% HEMEERZSEZNEAAZH
HEAQATNTES -

FRLEETAEETRERDERE
EA S ZHE -

ERFAREEMESHEARBIERERN
BRITEEETAHLERREEN
AEBEEYEZMHEE -BE
“E_REZA=+—HLEE"
ZEB 2 H T {E 5127,000%8 7T
(Z| P4 :140,000%7T) °

9. haEEFHHES

EN haRSHFHEEEENR (ZF
THE MR EE AREREFMOF
BFEALXMHESKE RBEE-F -5
FZR=+—HLEER HT—-&(Z
FINF —R)RESFTNIFEREED
RO

2025 2024
—S_hE =y e F =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in  ¥< - ZHLAEYEF
kind 1,740 1,689
Discretionary bonuses 18 7€ 41 2,283 2,379
Pension scheme contributions B & 58I 241 234
Total st 4,264 4,302




10.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. ZhARSHHMES @
(continued)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees FMNATFUTHENRSTFMEEERE
whose remuneration fell within the following band is as BHEWOT
follows:
Number of employees
EE®E
2025 2024

—EBE_REF =S it -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T 4,500,000 7T 1 1
Total “Et 1 1
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group ERN - AEEMEQEEREMNAZRS
to the directors or any of the five highest paid FMATZABMESERBMATIMAERE
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the BRI IEAERBE(CS 2
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2024: Nil). F )
INCOME TAX 10. FR{S 1R

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2024: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2024: 8.25%) and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere
have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
being effective on 1 January 2008, the corporate income
tax rate for all enterprises in Chinese Mainland is 25%.

Moreover, under the relevant tax laws and regulations in
Chinese Mainland, Vietnam and Indonesia, a company
may set off losses incurred by it in a financial year
against profits made by it in the succeeding financial
year or years, subject to a maximum of five financial
years.

EN - EEESRRESEELENMGLTE
IR EEA 16.5% (ZFB_MNFE 16.5% )
MEEEE  EAEE—RHKNBAI AR
BREMBHNEEREEIRN - ZHNE
22 7 B2,000,000%8 T (= F = M F
2,000,000 JT) FE 3R 7 48 F1] $#28.256% (=
FTTOE :825% ) MEMIM - MER T ME
iR % A Bl ®R16.5% (Z & Z M £F -
16.5% ) M EHM - Hfhth FERR ST
MiRE AIRBASEEEBRMERRWIER
TMEFTHE -

RBER_FEFNEFE—B—HEMNWFTEH
ERSKRE  PEKEFRELENTDE
FREMER25% -

s - RIBBRENPEKE - @ REE
MBERRY > — KRB ARFER—E M
BEEEAZEBR  KEHRER—EN
ZEMBFEZRN ERZARFERN
EMBREE -
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MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

m
=
(2}
Z  10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FREM @)
E In addition, Vietnam corporate income tax has been boh - WA EMBRIE20% (2 M
5 provided at the rate of 20% (2024: 20%) and Indonesia F20% ) MEEEE MEDEBLEMS
% corporate income tax has been provided at the rate of MM ERR AN U2% (ZF M
= 22% (2024: 22%) on the estimated assessable profits. F22% ) TR AELRH o
=
=
= 2025 2024
= —B-RE el -2
= HK$'000 HK$'000
= TET TET
=
S Current tax charge for the year: AEFERBEREXL ¢
i Hong Kong H5E 17,596 16,498
b Elsewhere H {3t 75 72,116 88,762
Overprovision for current tax in BEFENBPREBEES
p'*;} respect of prior years (2,211) (394)
ﬁ Deferred (note 26) IEFE (KI5E26) 7,789 3,880
= Total tax charge for the year AFEEREXZHERE 95,290 108,746
S
e
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BARUARB RE XIS H B QA
before tax using the statutory rates for the tax Bk SR ERENKREEEEEEER
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of EHEZRRA AN ZREIHERE
its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the tax BREFEZREIHZHERMOT

expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2025 2024

—EB"hEF —EBME

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#&ET FET

Profit before tax B 152 8 2 A 323,821 380,779
Tax at the applicable rates to profit in ZEBEREEAEEEEF]

the tax jurisdictions concerned BRZREFEZRE 75,372 89,667
Adjustments in respect of current tax FtIBEFEEEHREEL

of previous years EEES (2,211) (394)
Income not subject to tax BAERRZIA (1,750) (2,318)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR ZER 5,716 7,875
Effect of withholding tax on the AEBEBZHENB LB

distributable profits of the Group's  JREFMIEINR Z &

PRC subsidiaries 5,588 4,204
Tax loss not recognised RERRMEEGRE 13,800 10,923
Temporary differences not RERGHFEE

recognised (1,225) (1,211)
Tax charge at the Group's effective EAEBERKEHEZ

rate RIAX 95,290 108,746
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11.

12.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBRWE(R)

31 March 2025

—FZAEZAZ+—H

DIVIDENDS 1. KR
2025 2024
ZB-hHE —E|B_E
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET THBT
Dividends paid during the year: FNEMEE :
Final in respect of the financial year B{E — & U4
ended 31 March 2024 — ZA=+—HLMHRFE
HK8 cents (2024: HK8 cents) KEPKE — EREER
per ordinary share 8B (ZFEZME
8i& 1) 45,934 42,704
Special in respect of the financial #®E_Z_[U&F
year ended 31 March 2024 — NIl ZA=+—HLEHBREE
(2024: HK6 cents) per ordinary FAlEE — 8REEKRS
share (ZFZME 6381L) = 32,028
Interim — HK22 cents (2024: FRERE — SR ER22E
HK30 cents) per ordinary share (ZEFZI@E 30%810) 126,320 160,140
172,254 234,872
Proposed dividend: BIKKE
Final: HK4 cents (2024: HK8 cents) KREARE ERZEERAEW
per ordinary share (ZEZME 881 22,967 42,704

The proposed final dividend for the year is based on the
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
reporting date, and is subject to the approval of the
Company’'s shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. These financial statements do not
reflect the final dividend payable.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company for the year of HK$217,201,000 (2024:
HK$263,510,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of the Company of 563,338,247 (2024
533,800,000) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 as the Group had no potentially dilutive
ordinary shares in issue during those years.

12.

FAEREZBRRBEREDERESHE
ARBERTZROHBENE  LAFTAE
REIREREERRBFEFRGHERT
FIEE o %% I 75 R 3R 0 £ e R B A R A

RR e

XpREBAEGESRET

EREABANDRBENRLIETA
FEAL % F/217,201,000 7T (Z T MU -
263,510,000 7T) - UAENAANF B 8
T& % Z N F1981563,338,2478% (=
T P4 :533,800,0008%) 5t & -

RBEE-F_AFR-FIMNF=AR
=+—HLEFE AEEHEBEERER
E7ERTEER  FUHBENSRER
BMELHHAE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MBEHRRME(E)

31 March 2025

TR AFZH=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥13 * iR B &% 1

m
2
m
=
A
% Furniture,
5 fixtures,
E Leasehold Plant and equipment and  Construction
o Buildings improvements machinery motor vehicles in progress
= LR
= RE B
% B HENERE BE Rt 2 RSE EEIR A
= HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
= TER TET TER TET TER TET
=
= 31 March 2025 ZP-E%ZRZ+-H
@ Cost: A
At 1 April 2024 RIB-ZMENE—H 947,288 333,073 454,740 133,519 93,972 1,962,592
=] Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 29) WEE KB AR (MFE29) 118,712 5,216 32,710 5,494 12,683 174,815
)}AH Additions RE 2,606 60,741 63,945 11,949 142,122 281,363
Disposals HE (4,570) (81) (20,538) (10,432) - (35,621)
B Transfers e 53,899 6,039 17,798 - (77,736) -
&, Exchange realignment ERHAE (12,263) (3,977) (6,441) (1,483) (5,906) (30,070)
?ﬁ At 31 March 2025 RZBZRE=R=+-H 1,105,672 401,01 542,214 139,047 165,135 2,353,079
= Accumulated depreciation: RENE
P> At 1 April 2024 RZB-MEMA—H 291,643 230,075 316,848 105,873 = 944,439
] Provided during the year (note 7) FREE (HE7) 29,623 31,269 53,052 12,157 - 126,101
Disposals HE (383) (48) (18,733) (7,740) - (26,904)
Exchange realignment ERRAE (3.355) (2,589) (3.366) (1,012) = (10,322)
At 31 March 2025 RZIBZEEZAZ+-H 317,528 258,707 347,801 109,278 = 1,033,314
Net book value: RERE -
At 31 March 2025 RZIBZEEZAZ1+-H 788,144 142,304 194,413 29,769 165,135 1,319,765
Furniture,
fixtures,
Leasehold Plant and  equipment and  Construction in
Buildings  improvements machinery  motor vehicles progress Total
e
®E R
BF HENEEE TR R g2 RAE ERIE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TER TET TER
31 March 2024 ZB_ME=R=+-H
Cost: A
At 1 April 2023 RIZZ=£WBE-H 922,655 313,973 47,717 121,788 75,314 1,905,447
Additions RE 22,377 33,198 31,5625 21,224 63,068 171,392
Disposals HE - - (31,709) (4,948) - (36,657)
Transfers BB 42,613 — - - (42,613) —
Exchange realignment ERHRE (40,357) (14,098) (16,793) (4,545) (1,797) (77,590)
At 31 March 2024 RZBZME=B=+—H 947,288 333,073 454,740 133,619 93,972 1,962,592
Accumulated depreciation: RENE
At 1 April 2023 RIZEZ=Z£WNBE—-H 275,655 212,559 318,441 100,522 — 907,177
Provided during the year (note 7) ENERE (M7 29,112 26,747 32,412 11,084 - 99,355
Disposals HE - — (23,260) (1,204) - (24,464)
Exchange realignment ERAEE (13,124) (9,231) (10,745) (4,529) — (37,629)
At 31 March 2024 RZF-ME=R=+-H 291,643 230,075 316,848 105,873 — 944,439
Net book value: BREHE :
At 31 March 2024 RZF-ME=R=+-H 655,645 102,998 137,892 27,646 93,972 1,018,153
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14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land
and plant used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 20 to 60 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of
these land leases. Leases of plant generally have lease
terms of 13 months to 6 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group. There are three lease
contracts that include an extension option.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

14. HE

FEEFEREBA

FEEREEHRFETHEL A TIRK
HENEESGYN HELHWERE— R
ROXMNBEAUEBDHEE L HAN
F20E60F  REBEZFIMBERR &
BAFEXHEAMNIE - THREENHEE
NFIER E6F - —RME - AEETR
AEAAEENMIALTEZRDHEHEEE
E-HRZHHEEGHNHEEHEEE-

(a) EHEEZE
FRNAEEFEAEEENREEK

assets and the movements during the year are as BEUT -
follows:
Leasehold
land Plant Total
HEL IR 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 AZEZ=ZFIMAE—H 252,395 11,262 263,657
Additions AE 119,618 1,782 121,400
Depreciation charge (note 7) MERX (ME7) (10,246) (9,423) (19,669)
Exchange realignment BE &2 FA B (13,231) (196) (13,427)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April ==y it Ee 5
2024 =B=+—8BX&
—_E_MEMA—H 348,536 3,425 351,961
Acquisition of subsidiaries KERB AR
(note 29) (Bd5E29) 129,646 - 129,646
Additions ANE 5,613 21,862 27,475
Depreciation charge (note 7) MEMRX (ME7) (18,105) (7,764) (25,869)
Exchange realignment BE &2 F B (8,960) (65) (9,025)
At 31 March 2025 A_BAF
=B=+—H 456,730 17,458 474,188

One of the Group’'s leasehold land with a net
carrying amount of HK$1,088,000 (2024:
HK$1,127,000), together with the buildings thereon,
was provided as rent-free accommodation to
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing, an executive director of the
Company during the vyear.

AEBEHRE-ERBZEE
1,088,000 jT(Z | — I & :
1,127,000 m) 2 HE L #b - E[EF
ErFNEFRFEFNRERBEERAESH
TE (KRB —EZ2HITES)NRHE
=0
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

14. LEASES (continuea) 14. *ﬂg(%)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEEREBEANE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FNHESENREBEREENT -

movements during the year are as follows:

78 B3 (35 0E) €% QILIANITSONIATIOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 319V3

2025 2024
—E"RE —EINE
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#&ET THET
Carrying amount at 1 April RIUA—HZEREE 3,683 11,803
Additions NE 21,862 1,782
Accretion of interest recognised  F RN R F 2
during the year (note 6) (MF5E6) 905 238
Payments T3 (8,373) (9,924)
Exchange realignment BE 42 FA B (268) (216)
Carrying amount at 31 March =B =+—HZKEHE 17,809 3,683
Analysed into: TR
Current portion BN EA &R 7,425 3,366
Non-current portion JEENEAER & 10,384 317
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed HEaRIBEEHYTREBERRKW
in note 35 to the financial statements. FE35H & o
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) REDBEREASHERENSEBEUT -

to leases are as follows:

2025 2024
- =Sl - == rj2 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHBT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMER 905 238
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEEENEMRX
assets 25,869 19,669
Expense relating to short-term FHEEHEEE 2 HX
leases (included in cost of sales)  (FtASHE R AE) 217 314
Total amount recognised in profit RIBHMERHAELE
or loss 26,991 20,221
(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash (d) HERSARLEBREEKFHKRAE
outflows relating to leases that have not vyet EFHENRRREERENRMBRE
commenced are disclosed in note 30(c) to the M3 5E30(c) IR B8 o
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15.

16.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 15. A RIE - RELHMEK
OTHER RECEIVABLES g
2025 2024
—ESE"HRE “EFmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHBT
Prepayments FETRIE 49,792 57,960
Deposits and other receivables BEkEMERRIE 154,593 112,443
204,385 170,403
Less: Non-current portion of deposits for & BEEYE  KEX
purchases of items of property, HREEEN
plant and equipment ERNEE DR E (54,129) (41,916)
Current portion BNER &R 2> 150,256 128,487

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default and past due amounts. Their
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit
status of the debtors, and the loss allowances as at
31 March 2025 and 2024 were assessed to be minimal.

FFAU LERFIELESRNNERMEE  F
HA SR R SR o EA £ 28 - E AUk [al
SREBANGEERITE MRZF
—EFERZEFENFE=ZA=+—HHE
ERESTHERIBEM -

GOODWILL 16. &
2025 2024
—ESE"HRE == vj2 F: 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Cost and net carrying amount: A KR EREFEE
At beginning of year RELD 104,076 104,076
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 29) W B B S B (B3 5%29) 59,846 —
At end of year REXR 163,922 104,076
Impairment testing of goodwill AmERERNR

PRC CGU ONE

Goodwill of HK$26,112,000 (2024: HK$26,112,000),
arising from an acquisition during the vyear ended
31 March 2008, was allocated to a cash-generating unit
in Chinese Mainland which is engaged in the
manufacture and trading of sportswear and garments
(the "PRC CGU ONE").

Hh B 3 & A B i — 5
RBEE_ZTF/N\E=ZRA=+—BLEE
1T IR BE BT EE A B9 7 226,112,000 7T
(ZEFEZME :26,112,0008 70) BEE S
BEAEREESHREAANUERES
ZHEESXEN(YRARESEAEM—
881 e
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
—EAFE=ZHA=+—H

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. ﬁ%(ﬁéﬁ’

G3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNY3LNI) 3DIN 319V3
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

PRC CGU ONE (continued)

The PRC CGU ONE generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

The recoverable amount of the PRC CGU ONE has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a
five-year financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget years and the
discount rate of 15.0% (2024: 18.2%), which is pre-tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the PRC CGU ONE.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2024: 2%). The
directors believe that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the PRC CGU ONE to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the PRC CGU ONE is higher than
its carrying amount, the directors consider there was no
impairment of the goodwill at the end of the reporting
period.

PKI CGU

Goodwill of HK$36,075,000 (2024: HK$36,075,000),
arising from an acquisition during the year ended
31 March 2019, was allocated to a cash-generating unit
in Vietnam which is engaged in the manufacture of
sportswear (the “PKI CGU").

The PKI CGU generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets.

RERENR®

o[ B & i A B (T — i ()
PRHREELABU—SREENREERAAN
RELBINKEEMEENRERA -

FERSEEEN— BRI KEISED
RBEREEEE  MEREERNRER
BREEEEN  AEVMREEREAR
ZEEREMNE MBEEZHEETI KRR
ERKBEFERELTEHEE - BAER
ERMEZEERIAMBEZERNE (A
EEBEEFENZTEMERZEYE
M) R RFRIL0%(ZEZME
18.2% V(AR AT R R IREE AR IR G E L
BAN—REBZSTEERE)  AFHNUE
NIBEREFEMAY(ZE_NE 2%)
2 RERE - EEHE  EAZERK
AR EMEIRZ &8 AT ERPE
HeEEABN— B EREEBEER
WELEE HRFERESELBEM—K
ARESESRERETE EERARRE
EHREETEBRFBE -

PKIR £ EL£ ET
RBE_ZF-AE=B=+—HLEE
& 17 WX B8 P EE 4 #Y 7 236,075,0007 T
(ZF| M4 :36,075,000 TT) Eim e
AR EENREEECRESELEN
(TPKIIRSEELEENM]) -

PKIREELBUELEMNBEERAKREL
BIRKEHEMEENREERA



16. GOODW' LL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

PKI CGU (continued)

The recoverable amount of the PKI CGU has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a
five-year financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin
achieved in the year immediately before the budget
years and the discount rate of 17.2% (2024: 24.2%),
which is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
PKI CGU. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.5% (2024: 2%).
The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the PKI CGU to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount. Since the recoverable
amount of the PKI CGU is higher than its carrying
amount, the directors consider there was no impairment
of the goodwill at the end of the reporting period.

PRC CGU TWO

Goodwill of HK$38,147,000 (2024: HK$38,147,000),
arising from an acquisition during the vyear ended
31 March 2019, was allocated to a cash-generating unit
in Chinese Mainland which is engaged in the
manufacture and trading of sportswear (the “PRC CGU
TWO").

The PRC CGU TWO generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

Notes to Financial Statements (cun inued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

16. & »

RERENR @

PKIBE £ ELE N (&)

PKIRSESXEMZ I KEISEHRBME
FEEET MEREENREHSRE
BEEEM2AEVHBEEMBENIZRE
MEE PMBREEZHEEINIRMREER
BEFERALKEHRAZE BIRERE
ZEEBRAFEEZEFXR(ANRIERE
BEEEMZEEMERZFEHENER) R
WIRERI72% (ZFBZME :24.2% )(Jh
BRI A RMREPKIIRESEEEMNER
HERK) AFHUBENEREEREFER
25% (ZB/BIME 2% ) 2B REHEE -
EEHGE AAZFEREVESEMEIR
2EE BATERPKIREELEEMNZ
REREEBHAR T IK[E &% - BHIRPKIR
SEEBUZIROSESRNEREE -
EETRARBERRTEL B HIRRE -

B EE E AT = 5
REBEEZF—AFE=ZB=+—HILFE
& 1T WX B8 BT = 4 WU S 238,147,00058 7T
(ZEF G4 38,147,000 ) #EEE S
BAEREESRENEREEZRS
EEBEMN((TPEBESEEEME]) -

PEREEAEM _RELENEEARAN
RELBIRKEEMEENREERA
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MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
—EAFE=ZHA=+—H
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

PRC CGU TWO (continued)

The recoverable amount of the PRC CGU TWO has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a
five-year financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget years and the
discount rate of 15.0% (2024: 16.7%), which is pre-tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the PRC CGU TWO.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2024: 2%). The
directors believe that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the PRC CGU TWO to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the PRC CGU TWO is higher than
its carrying amount, the directors consider there was no
impairment of the goodwill at the end of the reporting
period.

Indonesia CGU

Goodwill of HK$3,742,000 (2024: HK$3,742,000), arising
from an acquisition during the year ended 31 March
2022, was allocated to a cash-generating unit in
Indonesia which is engaged in the manufacture and
trading of sportswear and garments (the “Indonesia
CGU").

The Indonesia CGU generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

RERENR®

HhEEEELE N5 (&)
FERESEABMN _EoAIKEISEET
REFEREEEE  MEAREERNRER
SREEEEMN 2 AEVREERER
ZHEEREHNE - MBBEEZHRETI R
EREAFFEREREREE - FBHIR
EREBEZFERIAMBEZERNE(AD
EEEEFENRZEERERZTEYE
MR R IRFIB0%(ZFZ M EF -
16.7% ) (AR ET R R IREEFRE IR & E £
BUNZHRBERBZEERR) AFHNUE
NEEREFEMA2%(ZFE_ME 2%)
2 RERE - EERE  EAZEFRBR
AR A EMERZ #8)  BARTERPE
REeEEABMN _ B EREESBEER
WEE&EE ARTPEREELSEM %Y
ARESESRERTE EERARK
HHAREELE BT RME -

HEREZELE N
REBEE_ZE__F=B=+—HLEE
11T IRBE P E AR MU P E3,742,008 7T (=
F PO :3,742,0008 70) BER AN B
EENRERBANREEREGZREE
HSEBEM(NEBRESELENM]) -

HNEREELBENELENRERAKRE
EBUIRKEEMEENEREZRA -



16. GOODW' LL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Indonesia CGU (continued)

The recoverable amount of the Indonesia CGU has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a
five-year financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin
achieved in the year immediately before the budget
years and the discount rate of 19.0% (2024: 20.0%),
which is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
Indonesia CGU. The cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2024:
2%). The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the Indonesia CGU to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the Indonesia CGU is higher than
its carrying amount, the directors consider there was no
impairment of the goodwill at the end of the reporting
period.

Din Sen CGU

Goodwill of HK$59,846,000, arising from an acquisition
during the year, was allocated to a cash-generating unit
in Vietnam which is engaged in the manufacture of
sportswear and garment (the “Din Sen CGU").

The Din Sen CGU generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

16. & »

RERENR @

HEBEZELEN &)
HMERSELEMNZ IO E I RE
FHREEETE MEREBEEIREHRSHK
EEEEMCAFMBESERENZR
ERMEFHE - WBBEEZHEEIRRER
kBEFEFERBELIEHREE FBARESR
EZEERBRRAMEBEEZEMNE (AIEE
EEEENZEEMERZFEHENX)
BRI TI19.0% (ZFZUE :200%)
(IR kR RENEIREELEMNE
AzRERR) AFHUENERESRE
FERA2% (ZTEZME 2% ) 2B REHE
B - EEMHE EAZSREVESEH]
HIRZz &8 SAEERNEHRSELE
ALz HEERRTEEB L 4E T WO £ %8 - FRIAEN
BReSELEMNzZIKREIESRER
HE EFRARBSHRTELRELER
AR -

Din SenE £ EL E i

F I 1T IR B BT EE AR B9 P 2859,846,00078
TEREUENEENRERKREE
2HREEXENMN(Dn SenBE2ELE
fiz]) »

Din SenIREELBUEANRERAK
EBEBIRNREEMEENRERA -
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MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Din Sen CGU (continued)

The recoverable amount of the Din Sen CGU has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a
five-year financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget years and the
discount rate of 16.9%, which is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the Din Sen CGU. The cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
a growth rate of 2.5%. The directors believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of the
Din Sen CGU to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amount. Since the recoverable amount of the Din Sen
CGU is higher than its carrying amount, the directors
consider there was no impairment of the goodwill at the
end of the reporting period.

RERENR®

Din SenB & E £ E (i (&)

Din Senli&ELEMNZAIKESETIR
BEREEEE MEREENREHRS
REBEEEMN 2 AFMRBEEREANZ
REMENE - WHBEZHRENRRE
BRrRBAEFERERERSERE -BAURE
MEZFERRAMBEZEMNX(AIE
EEEFEENZFEEMERZENEF
) RITIRE16.9% (T4 bR 81 K& /= AR £2
Din SenIR&E4ABENETREAZHERER) -
AFEHUENREEREFERA2%ZER
Kl - EEMEE FAZSFBRRIES
EhHRE &8 KAZEHDIn Senlk
SEABMNZERTEBHE KD
%8 - AMADIn SenBEEA BN 2 A K[
SHEEREREE EFRARKREHE
e & B IRE -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MERRKE(R)
31 March 2025
—E_AF=ZH/A=+—H

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
Customer
Backlog relationship Total
KERSHE EFRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
31 March 2025 —_E_AF=H=+—H
Cost at 1 April 2024, net of RIFEZMEMA—H®W
accumulated amortisation BUA - i0FR R G = 2,116 2,116
Amortisation provided during the year £ Puif ¥ 1244
(note 7) (MyzE7) = (2,116) (2,116)
At 31 March 2025 RIB_AF=ZA=+—H = = =
At 31 March 2025: RZIBZHAFE=R=+—H:
Cost B AR 2,838 16,926 19,764
Accumulated amortisation Rt (2,838) (16,926) (19,764)
Net carrying amount IREFE - - -
31 March 2024 “E_ME=ZA=+—H
Cost at 1 April 2023, net of RIFEZI=ZFMA—HN
accumulated amortisation BUA - i0FR R AT — 4,937 4,937
Amortisation provided during the year 4 Poif §¥ %45
(note 7) (MyzE7) - (2,821) (2,821)
At 31 March 2024 NRZE_NE=B=+—H — 2,116 2,116
At 31 March 2024: RIBZME=A=+—H :
Cost B AN 2,838 16,926 19,764
Accumulated amortisation Rty (2,838) (14,810) (17,648)
Net carrying amount REFE — 2,116 2,116
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MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

18.

19.

INVENTORIES
2025 2024
—_E_REF —EIE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Raw materials FEM# 405,243 293,579
Work in progress T8 M 272,866 234,686
Finished goods SRR 284,456 176,604
Total et 962,565 704,869

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

19. FEXBR X

2025 2024
“®ZhF —FImE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET

Accounts receivable & W BR #X

460,403 324,572

The Group’s accounts receivable mainly relate to a few
recognised and creditworthy customers. The credit
period generally ranges from 30 to 90 days (2024: 30 to
90 days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables to minimise the credit risk.
Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by the
management of the Group. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its accounts
receivable balances. The accounts receivable are
non-interest-bearing. At the end of the reporting period,
69% (2024: 65%), 13% (2024: 9%) and 10% (2024:
22%) of the total accounts receivable were due from the
Group's largest customer, the second largest customer
and the third largest customer, respectively.

AEEZERERETZEETRIRE
EBRIFNEFEHE - EEH BN FI0K
FOKR(ZEZME 30KEOK) - KE
ERNHERRFIRBREIREER #
EERRBEFHERMEKE - BERMG &
BHAEEEEECHER - AE@HIL X
MEEREREHTETARERKE
IR EEEE - EWERARBIRR -
RIBERR  RELAEEE—  F_KE
= REF D RMGEFEW R FUAEEE6O% (ZF
PO :65% ) 13% (ZF_FM4E 9% )
B10% (ZFBZPUE :22%) °



19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBERRWE(E)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

19. FEWERFR (=)

RESHRZEBBRFAREZZAHG
REQOTAT -

2025 2024
—E_REF —EFIE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 30 days 30KA 221,884 266,865
31 to 60 days 31E60K 174,568 28,300
61 to 90 days 61E90K 56,343 28,260
Over 90 days 0K E 7,608 1,147
Total #BEt 460,403 324,572

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. No impairment allowance
was provided as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 as
management concluded that the expected credit losses
were not significant given the receivable balances related
to customers with no recent history of default and
majority of the balances were not yet past due.

REHRE AR RABREEREETRE
o UETERBEEEE - BEXiRE
ERERERANIEFRFZANXE
FTE - ZETERMRIEARMEERRNE
SHEASNERMBESEE Bk Rk
RREBEFGRANEGERAIEER - B
1A & KX BR R 445 B B T B 3 4 R SRAC #R Y
EFEBERBOGEGREREE  WEE
BRABRPCERRBRBEM  EHR=
F_AFERZF_MNE=A=+—Hit
EERRERRE -
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MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

20. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE, TIME
DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

20. XMBHIR{TLHEER - EHAEM
R & R IRITHER

2025 2024
- =Sl - “EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET TFHET
Cash and bank balances ReRIBITHEER 238,504 454,776
Non-pledged time deposits with REERREEHE BB
original maturity of less than three ={ERMEIRFEHER
months when acquired 149,957 36,366
Less: Restricted bank balance for BWORPEREEOREN
import purchases in Chinese 5 PR &l 8R 1T 4 B8R
Mainland (1,071) (1,084)
Total cash and bank balances ReRkiBITHERER 387,390 490,058

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
("RMB") amounted to HK$347,642,000 (2024:
HK$428,087,000). RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies. However, under Chinese Mainland’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for seven days depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and restricted bank balance are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RBERR  AEBUARE(TARE]D
SHEMIR & & IR 1T 45 8% A347,642,000%
TT(ZF Z M4 :428,087,000 JT) - A
RESSEHRRAHMER - AMIRIE
AR KBS Y INBE B IR B DA K 45 BE - S8
ENEEERE AEEBEMNESBER
ENEIIEER ZRTHBARERRS

FRE|ETHRERSARTERNRZ
FEEXRREAE - ARERANREHE
ZEBECRWEHEHER Lo 5KE
TR RERIRAR - RITERRE
RHEBRTESRDERNREEFEEREEHR
RRFC I ZIRIT °



21.

22.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

21. [ETERRX

RESHRZEMERRBZZAHN
RIS AT -

2025 2024
—_E_RF —EE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 90 days 90K N 311,497 290,984
91 to 180 days 91E180K 3,913 9,792
181 to 365 days 181E365K 1,569 945
Over 365 days 365K X £ 2,419 4,977
Total #BEt 319,398 306,698

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on credit terms of 30 to 60 days.

BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's banking facilities were
supported by the corporate guarantees of
HK$1,418,780,000 (2024: HK$1,490,290,000) executed by
the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, an aggregate amount of the
Group’s banking facilities of HK$1,447,502,000 (2024:
HK$909,464,000) was utilised.

BNERRBERRRK  FEH-—RAB/I0E
60K -

22. IRITHEREE
RIFB_RAE=ZA=+—H AEENIR
THEREEUARRBRANEETHE
N EE I B ER,418,780,0005 TT
(ZZEZMAE :1,490,290,000% 7o) 1F X
o

RIFBZAF=RA=+—H AEBEMIR

THEREEEEHEAH1,447,502,0008 7T
(ZF M4 909,464,000 TT) °
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MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

23. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

23. Bt & E R H it FE 4 IR

2025 2024
—_E_AREF —EFTHE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHBT

Other payables HMEMRIE 58,965 42,047
Accruals [t & 118,661 122,804
Total et 177,626 164,851

Included in other payables were contract liabilities of
HK$2,169,000 as at 31 March 2025, HK$979,000 as at
31 March 2024, and nil as at 1 April 2023.

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver sportswear and garments. The increase (2024:
increase) in contract liabilities in 2025 was mainly due to
the increase (2024: increase) in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the sale of
sportswear and garments at the end of the year.

BHNEBEHANEMENRELFINR -
—_HAF=RA=+—H%2169,000% T -
RIBZHWNF =R =+—H%A979,000/%&
TERR-ZFBZ=ZFHMBE—AA/Z-

BHNREEREARNEHRER KR
WERAEHTAN R - RZFBZAFHNEH
BEEM(CTINE BN TEZHRE
AEBRERKKREERDEF KD
MHEMFEM(ZFZME ) AR
B o



24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

. ETRIRITER

BORROWINGS
2025 2024
el R NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Effective interest rate B BH & EH#AE FTER FHET
Current BN
Bank loans RITER 4.17% to 5.55% (2024: 4.17%ZE5.55%  Within one year or on  —FRNHEEK
2.8% to 6.05%) (Z8Z M
E 8%E
6.06% ) 1,307,462 651,074
Non-current E(3:0)-
Bank loans RITER 5.04% (2024: 6.05%) 5.04% 2026 (2024: 2025~ ZEIRE
(ZB-m%E : (ZB-m%E :
6.05% ) —EHEE
ZEIRE 140,040 258,390

As at 31 March 2025, bank borrowings of
HK$910,029,000 (2024: HK$487,878,000) were supported
by corporate guarantees executed by the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, bank borrowings of
HK$752,788,000 (2024: HK$437,309,000) were
denominated in US$.

Based on the maturity terms of the bank borrowings, the
amounts repayable in respect of the bank borrowings are
analysed as follows:

RIBE_HRFZHR=+—H ' RITER
910,029,000 (= T = WM™ £F :
487,878,000 70) HA A B KA AT E T
MBABSELHN AT EREIF-

!

RZIEBE_AE=B=+—H #BITEXR
752,788,000 (= &F Z @ :
437,309,000 70) LA SETTETE -

4y

REBRITERZENY - RITEREEE
TEAFWT

Analysed into: DA
Within one year or on demand —FNHEEK
In the second year £
In the third to fifth years, inclusive SF=ZFEZFAHE

(BEEEME)

2025 2024
“EB-AF —EImE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET TET
1,307,462 651,074
140,040 101,790

- 156,600

The non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings of HK$140,040,000 is subject to financial
covenants of consolidated interest protection multiples
and consolidated gearing ratio. The covenants are tested
half-yearly, at 30 September and 31 March. The Group
considered there is no indication that it will have
difficulties in complying with these covenants.

140,040,0007% T KU FE BN BA B0 93 51 28R 1T
EREETHRENEREGHE LGS

EABLENMBERY ZERNEFF
RAB=Z+BA=ZB=Z+—HETHR -
AEBRAUBPRETAEBETEST
ZERNWTHEERE -
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MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
—EAFE=ZHA=+—H

25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group provides benefits to its employees of its
subsidiaries in Indonesia who attain the retirement age
of 57 to 58 years (2024: 57 to 58 years) based on the
provisions of the Indonesian Job Creation Act Number
11/2020, Indonesian Government Regulations Number
35/2021, Collective Labour Agreement and Management
Policy No.001/ENI-SK/IV/2023, through an unfunded
pension plan.

The plan is exposed to salary increase risk and interest
rate risk.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value
of the defined benefit obligations were carried out at
31 March 2025 by Kantor Konsultan Aktuaria Yusi Dan
Rekan, an independent actuary with a licence from the
Indonesia Ministry of Finance, using the projected unit
credit method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

25.

EERAUSEME
AEBBEBEERBAGFEERENEA
EELSEEEE11/2020%5% « EIE B
& B 5E35/202 1 R ERBLBERALKER
B 2R 55001/ENI-SK/IV/20235% - & HEN[E
B A B ERS7TESE (ZE _ME 57
E58m) BN FRESRMERH -

Z =t &l R ¥ & £ 7+ LB B M R EL R o

EHEGENETHEBEZRMBEGEHRN
JE B B &P R 0] & i 8 B EE fKantor
Konsultan Aktuaria Yusi Dan Rekani¥
EABMNEEREMBEENR S _AF
—B=+—HEBE-

REBESHRARAZETERERIMOT -

2025 2024
—F-AF —®mEF

BEXENE
IRE (%)

EN Indonesia
Discount rate (%)

Expected rate of salary increase (%) FAsFHEERZE(%)

PGG PGG
Discount rate (%) IR E(%)

Expected rate of salary increase (%) FEitFHESERZE(%)

7.19 7.03
5.0 5.0
7.19 7.06
6.0 6.0




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 25. EHBIET =

(continued)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant
assumptions as at the end of the reporting period is
shown below:

RBESHPR  EXBRRZEEHBRE DT
SIRAMT

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in net in net
defined defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
EEEN EEEN
HERE HERE
®hn, ®hn,
b= B GR ) LEE TR GR)
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
THETT TFHETT
2025 ZEBZhRE
Discount rate IR = 1 (2,687) 1 3,148
Future salary increase KRR &1 h0 1 3,077 1 (2,678)
2024 —E_MME
Discount rate IR = 1 (2,323) 1 2,729
Future salary increase KR F LM 1 2,623 1 (2,296)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on a method that extrapolates the impact on
defined benefit obligations as a result of reasonable
changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a
change in a significant assumption, keeping all other
assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis may not
be representative of an actual change in the defined
benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

ERHRESTIREBEEERRINES
PRBVEZABEHHTETERNEEZ
FEZAMETE - FREDMIERE
FBEEMBRTIENER T -—HEEX
BRI LEMET - MREDTRDRT
EREMNEENERNE  HZFRERN
HEEEFEBEREE -
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MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 25.

(continued)

The total expense/(income)

recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss in respect of the

plan are as follows:

EHRBEIUEBE @

MZAERGEEERRERZH (K

N)BREAT

2025 2024
—S_"hE =)o =5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current service cost RAERBRAE 4,391 3,765
Past service cost 8 & AR 75 B AR = (6,105)
Interest cost FERK 1,378 737
Net benefit expense/(income) BAIRZ (BN F5E 5,769 (1,603)
Recognised in cost of sales TR & R A HERR 4,698 (1,305)
Recognised in administrative RITHHE X #R
expenses 1,071 (298)
5,769 (1,603)
The movements in the present value of the defined EHEEASTREEESHUOT
benefit obligations are as follows:
2025 2024
—EB_RE —EF-@mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
At beginning of reporting period KR & EA 4 20,387 22,113
Current service cost RERBRA 4,391 3,765
Past service cost 18 2 IR 7 B A = (6,105)
Interest cost FERK 1,378 737
Actuarial losses HEEBEIE 58 1,117
Benefits paid E @l (302) (28)
Exchange differences [ERER (1,292) (1,212)
At end of reporting period RBEER 24,620 20,387




25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

The movements in the defined benefit obligations are as

follows:

2025

1 April

Pension cost charged
to profit or loss

RRENR 2B R ERS

Sub-total
included
in the

Service statement of

cost Net interest profit or loss

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025

—FCAF=ZHA=+—H

EHRBEUNEBE @

EEBAIEEZEESUT :

it = 1§

Actuarial

changes

arising from

changes in

demographic

Benefits paid assumptions

ADfREE

Remeasurement (gains)/losses
in other comprehensive income

Rthembaz B E(HaE)/BR

Actuarial Actuarial

changes changes
arising from arising from
changes in

financial  experience
assumptions  adjustments

BERED ARARED

Sub-total

changes in included in other
comprehensive

income

Exchange
differences
on a foreign

plan

31 March
2025

SARER BEZRE EEZRE  EEIRE  HARBSE RGN ZB2EE
EE-B  EEEx  HSFE 2t ERER 29 29 29 bzt  ERE® ZA=1-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TR TR TR
Defined benefit obligations EERIER 20,387 4391 1378 5,769 (302) = (484) 542 58 (1,292) 24,620
2024 S mE
Pension cost charged Remeasurement (gains)/losses
to profit or loss in other comprehensive income
REZNBRZERERE EfteEREZ ENHE () /BE
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
Sub-total changes changes changes
included arising from  arising from  arising from Sub-total
in the changes in  changesin  changes in included in other Exchange

1 April Service statement of demographic financial ~ experience  comprehensive differences on 31 March
2023 cost  Netinterest profit or loss  Benefits paid ~ assumptions ~ assumptions  adjustments income a foreign plan 2024

ADBRZED HERR2D CRIZED
Z3Iz% FABRR EEZBE EEZRE  EEIRE FARRSE  EAHEN —3-RE
mE-B  EBREX  HSEE 2t EMEA g g g kgzhi  EREZE ZA=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TERL TERL TERL
Defined benefit obligations EREHER 22,113 (2,340) 737 (1,603) (28) - 1452 (335) 7 (1,212) 20,387

The Group provides defined benefits to its eligible
employees in Indonesia through unfunded pension plans.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation of
EN Indonesia and PGG at the end of the reporting period

is 16.99 years (2024: 17.56 years).

rEE®EEEMH
BEREERMUERE -

REARFEIREENES

EXEEKRPGCRIBEH RN EBEIE
£ F ¥ HR A16.99FE(ZF Z M £

17.66%) °
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MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

26. DEFERRED TAX

26

The movements in deferred tax liabilities of the Group
during the year are as follows:

EERIE

AEERFNNEERESBESZHUT -

Deferred tax liabilities EEREAAGR
Withholding Losses
taxes on available for
Accelerated undistributed offsetting
tax Asset profits of PRC  against future
depreciation revaluation Others subsidiaries taxable profits Total
TEREARR ARAREH
ARENZ A&EER
MERERE BEEfR Hits Ba# b2tilA i} st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TET TERT TET TERT
At 1 April 2023 R-S-=&mA-A 11,087 33195 346 9,780 (6,000] 48,608
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the ~ FRAEGZABRRNR/
consolidated statement of profit or (N HEERE
loss during the year (note 10) (F3E10) 1,830 (2,243) (485) 4,204 574 3,880
Withholding tax on repatriation of B I A B BB A
earnings from subsidiaries in Bi®
the PRC - — - (4,635) - (4,635)
Exchange realignment ERAE - (2,183) 139 — - (2,044)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZBZME=ZA=1+—H
RZB-MEMA-H 13,117 28,769 - 9,349 (5.426) 45,809
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 29) W B AR (HisE29) - 16,572 - - - 16,572
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the ~ ERAERABERITE/
consolidated statement of profit or (GIAN)RERRIE
loss during the year (note 10) (Ktz£10) 2,480 (2,480) = 5.588 2,201 7,789
Withholding tax on repatriation of o 0 i /8 ) B L R A
earnings from subsidiaries in SEilkicd
the PRC - = - (7,253) - (7,253)
Exchange realignment ERBE (751) (767) - - (282) (1.800)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZBE_AF=R=+—-H 14,846 42,094 = 7,684 (3.507) 61,117




26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in
Chinese Mainland. The requirement has been effective
since 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings accrued
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese
Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rates are 5% or 10%
(2024: 5% or 10%). In estimating the withholding taxes
on dividends expected to be distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008, the directors
have made an assessment based on the factors which
included the dividend policy and the level of capital and
working capital required for the Group’s operations in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with the investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$486,869,000 (2024: HK$414,489,000).

The Group has aggregate estimated tax losses arising in
Chinese Mainland, Indonesia, Vietham and Hong Kong of
HK$182,405,000 (2024: HK$142,689,000) that are
available for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the Company and the respective subsidiaries in which
the losses arose. Apart from the tax losses for which a
deferred tax asset of HK$3,507,000 (2024:
HK$5,426,000) has been recognised at the end of the
reporting period, no other deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of these losses as the directors
consider it is not probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which these tax losses can be
utilised. Included in the unrecognised tax losses are
estimated tax losses of HK$163,402,000 (2024:
HK$108,946,000) that will expire within five years from
the date the losses arose. Other losses can be carried
forward indefinitely.

26.
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MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

i FE WL IE ()

EEREE&FE B
RBEPRERE - RPBXKERILZIEE
ERERMEREFERZEEEEE
K10%FEHR ZREB_FF/\F—A
—HEAN  wEARZZEFtHF+A
Z+—HBEEZEF o 85 B AR HE
BRER ZEVEEER]IIRBIEL - AT
BREEEAENREE AEBZERAR
T A5%H10% (Z F Z M F 5%
10% ) - TEfEt 2 EREKERIIHNEBA
A _EEN\NFEF—A—HEELENEA
TEHRE I EATAMMNTEIIRE - E5E
FEEERERRIREITRRREAEER
EEMREAREEERKEERR - K
BRECEHEGBENFTRKXENREB AR
ZHRENEREZERBEARLAY

486,869,000 (= F = © £F :
414,489,000 7)) ©
REBNRTEAKE HE  BEAEBE

2 s R IEE I8 42 %8 5182,405,00058
TT(ZF Z M :142,689,0005 75) * A
FAREEANARSELEBENBLE
ZBBRERBEAN - BRRBFEHREMR
IE FE #3 18 & EE3,507,0008 Tt (Z /| 1Y
£ 15,426,000 70) 2 MIEB BN - AR
EERAHBEERRENN AKX TEERE
REZEREHEE  QUEERZEEER
REMELERBEEE - RERKREBES
¥ i 5t 72 18 85 $8163,402,0005 T (Z &

Z P4 :108,946,000& 70) - IS EEEE
S ZHERAFWNEE - HihE5E T SR
4 o
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MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

m
>
=)
2 27. ISSUED CAPITAL 27. ER{TKRAE
il
5 2025 2024
% - Sl - 3 —FME
= HK$’000 HK$'000
: FHERT TR
=) Authorised: EE
% 10,000,000,000 (2024 10,000,000,0008%
& 10,000,000,000) ordinary shares (ZEZmEF
= of HK$0.01 each 10,000,000,000%)
= SREE0.0IB T2
& L E 100,000 100,000
H Issued and fully paid: ERTRER :
574,180,000 (2024: 533,800,000) 574,180,0008%
é ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (ZBZE -
S 533,800,0008%)
Et FREEBITZ
= i AR 5,742 5,338
]
A summary of the Company's issued capital is as ARNFBETERANEARDOT -
follows:
Number of
ordinary
shares in Issued Share
issue capital premium Total
BT BT
EHEREHE [ B {n & & et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET
At 1 April 2023 and ATEBI=F
31 March 2024 mMA—HX
—EFME
=ZA=+—H 533,800,000 5,338 573,910 579,248
Issue of shares (Note) TR (EE) 40,380,000 404 181,710 182,114
At 31 March 2025 R_FB_HhFE=R
=+—H 574,180,000 5,742 755,620 761,362
Note: BEzE -
On 1 July 2024, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in RZBZWMEEL B —H A% B KBWisdom
Wisdom Innovation Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the Innovation Holdings Limited & E Kt E A& ([ B1Z
“Target Group”). Part of the consideration was settled by way of £ 00%KEE - BARKBEUERISNET
the issuance of 40,380,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the (AN BR-ZB_MENAZ+/\BES BE
“Consideration Shares”) at HK$4.51 per share, being the closing ERGAERABMU T IKE) 2 1740,380,0008%
share price of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong AABEBR(RERDDNARNIZM - WEF
Limited on 28 June 2024. Details of the acquisition are set out in BEN M B REKH 529 -

212 note 29 to the financial statements.



28.

29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value
of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the
Company pursuant to a group reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”) in August 2003, and the nominal value
of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange
therefor and the existing 1,000,000 shares of HK$0.01
each credited as fully paid, at par.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations,
subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required to
transfer a certain portion of their profits after tax, as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of the reserve
reaches 50% of their respective registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the relevant
PRC regulations, the statutory surplus reserve may be
used to offset against accumulated losses.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 1 July 2024, the Group acquired a 100% equity
interest in the Target Group from independent third
parties for a total consideration of HK$224,936,000,
comprising cash consideration of HK$42,822,000 and the
Consideration Shares of HK$182,114,000 (the
“Acquisition”). The Target Group is principally engaged in
the production and sale of sports clothing and
accessories. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 21 June 2024 and 8 July 2024 for
details of the Acquisition.

28.

29.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

i
FEERFEERBEFEZFESR
REBBFBERUBRRPZEGED
BERZET -

FEEERFEREEARIRBE-ST=
FN\BZEBEA([EEDFBRBREL
ANRAEERSR EREETZAAR
IR A EE K& 3R A 1,000,000 5 R E{E0.01
BTEREEANRIFBERNDEBZESE -

REEETERL - EREZMONEL
BIARE THMOMNRREBEN (RHEE
RARPIEE) BBREATERGERE EE
ZRENEREIESBEMELRL0% -
EERTERLMEETRIBRRT - &
ERBRETREREZRESGE-

XBa6

RIFZWNMEELHE—H A&EEEBIE
ZHKEBEEBENI100%EE  EBRE
#224,936,0008 T B THE&ERKE
42,8220008 T AR EBEKR W EBEE &
182,114,000 T (W) - BEE&EE E
ERELERMEEESRREH - B
BHESEAND _E_NENBZ+—
HR-ZEFE_MNMELB/\HHMAE -

ZF - REFH Annual Report 2025

213

SIRBRAF

e
A

EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED  F& 35 (BRI BR) 2

A



=7 & B3 & (5 0E) 228 QILIAITSONITOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3DIN 319v3

214

Annual Report 2025 — &8 — AEF R

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
—EAFE=ZHA=+—H

29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continuea)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

29. ¥ 856w
REEER BN BEEEAERIEER

the Target Group as at the completion date of the BENAFEEAOT -
Acquisition was as follows:
Fair value
recognised
upon the
Acquisition
RIKEBREZN
NEE
Notes HK$'000
B 5 FHBT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 13 174,815
Right-of-use assets FRHEEE 14(a) 129,646
Inventories 7E 5,220
Accounts receivable & IS BR 3R 3,932
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE{TIE - & R EHME
W FRIE 6,087
Cash and bank balances HERIBTHER 12,076
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEsta B R EMEMIIE (28,668)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRIRITER (121,446)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE (16,572)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value BAFEIERDN
AR B ERREE 165,090
Goodwill on the Acquisition RERNEE 16 59,846
224,936
Satisfied by: RN THEA
Initial cash consideration RREERE 36,380
Add: Adjustment for final payment RS 6,442
Consideration Shares RERD 182,114
224,936




29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continuea)

Both the fair value and gross contractual amount of the
accounts receivable as at the completion date of the
Acquisition amounted to HK$3,932,000.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$1,115,000
for the Acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purpose.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
Acquisition is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

29. ¥ 8w

RIKEERBEE  BRERFAHAFERE
EH S EE1Y53,932,0008 7T °

AEERWBELER S K A,115,000%8
T ZERZHABIERXLF ANERE
BmRAMNTEREAX - BEHERNEEY
NA RSB RETIOR -

ERAKRBNRERESNAOT

HK$'000

TFET

Total cash consideration RERERE (42,822)

Cash and bank balances acquired Fri g 2 I & R iR 1T 45 R 12,076
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included 3t ANARKREFHB2REREZ

in cash flows used in investing activities HekBSEEEBRLTFE (30,746)

Transaction costs included in cash flows from FAREREEEZRERE
operating activities R HBA (1,115)
(31,861)

Since the Acquisition, the Target Group brought about
HK$67,725,000 to the Group's revenue and loss of
HK$52,924,000 to the consolidated profit of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the consolidated profit
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 would
have been HK$4,856,579,000 and HK$193,041,000,
respectively.

BRELR  BEEEAAEERESEEZ
F_AFEZA=+—BHIEFEEZHFEER
F) 5 2k & 2 W N67,725,0008 T & 1B
52,924,000 TG °

HEHREDET AEERBEZR
“ThEZR=+t—HILEEFEZERXKA
KRG E TR 2 5 %34,856,579,0008 7T K&
193,041,000 7T °
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MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFEZHA=+—H

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ZAa
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a)

(i) During the year, non-current deposits of
HK$41,916,000 (2024: HK$39,648,000) were
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

(i) During the vyear, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of HK$21,862,000 (2024:
HK$1,782,000) and HK$21,862,000 (2024:
HK$1,782,000), respectively, in respect of a

BEERERME

FEFRERS

(i)  FA- IERBNIZE41,916,00078
Jo(Z & Z IO % :39,648,000
BT EEEBEEYE BEK
B4

(il FN AEFR-—EREHEE
ZHABUIER &R EE R
BEMHEEA&E21,862,000%8
JTT(ZEZME 1,782,000
7o) ’%21,862,000% w(Z &

lease arrangement for a plant. P4 :1,782,000587T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MMEEFHELANEREESH
activities
Interest-bearing
Lease bank
liabilities borrowings
HEafE AEIRITEMR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
At 1 April 2023 “_E-=—FMWABA—H 11,803 622,823
Changes from financing cash flows MEREMEEE (9,686) 287,102
New lease mHEAE 1,782 —
Interest expenses AERX 238 —
Interest paid classified as operating NPERHREREREN
cash flows ERFIS (238) —
Exchange realignment BE & R B (216) (461)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 —EBEWNEZHA
=t+—-HK
“SE-HEME—H 3,683 909,464
Changes from financing cash flows FEREMEEE (7,468) 414,653
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 29) KEHRB AR
(Bd5E29) — 121,446
New lease MEE 21,862 -
Interest expenses MEMAX 905 —
Interest paid classified as operating DTERKEREREN
cash flows EMFIE (905) -
Exchange realignment BE 42 3 2 (268) 1,939
At 31 March 2025 ZEZAHE
=BA=+—H 17,809 1,447,502




30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

31.

32.

(continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

Notes to Financial Statements (cunlinued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

SERERERMETE @

(c) HERERHESE
FARERERNEERESRHE

statement of cash flows is as follows: BT :
2025 2024
—ES_"hE “EIOE
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET
Within operating activities ML EEWN 1,122 552
Within financing activities 7,468 9,686
Total 8,590 10,238

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities not provided for at the end of the reporting

period (2024: Nil).

As at 31 March 2025, corporate guarantees to banks to
the extent of HK$1,418,780,000
HK$1,490,290,000) were given by the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company for banking facilities
granted to the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Company, which were utilised to the extent of
HK$1,447,502,000 (2024: HK$909,464,000) at the end of

the reporting period.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the

end of the reporting period:

1. XREE
RIBEHR  AEBXEFMEREEZ
EAFABEB(ZE_MNE #E) o

RIBZAEZRF=+—H ' ZAFKEX
NEHETHEB X @R ITIEH®
1,418,780,000% (= &F = F o
1,490,290,00058 7C) A A IE R - UEXNEBE
FARBAERANTDETHBEASRIRIT
EHRAEE HARBESESHRE A
1,447,502,000%8 7T(Z & = F
909,464,000 7T) °

Contracted, but not provided for:
Renovation of factories and
purchases of items of machinery
and equipment for the production
bases

ETZ’ME' EE%*{E :
ﬂgJﬂiﬂ%

32. i
AEBRBEHAZERRKENT ¢
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EFEME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
5
88,810 47,702
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MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
—EAFE=ZHA=+—H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33.

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the

FEALRS
(a) BRAMBERELMBH HBHR
S5 REERENEEEALE

following material transactions with related parties TTHNERRS
during the year:
2024
—EIMOE
Notes HK$'000
B 5 TET
A related company —AARNBEEREME
indirectly controlled by EEHNEENT -
a substantia
shareholder of the
Company:
Rental expenses* HEMx* (i) 8,701 7,723
Service fee R% & (i) 8,829 8,591
Notes: Fff 5%

(i) The Group entered into lease agreements with Pouyuen
Vietnam Company Limited (“Pouyuen Vietnam”), a
related company indirectly controlled by Yue Yuen, a
substantial shareholder of the Company, for the rental
of (a) a plant at a monthly rate of US$71,184
(equivalent to approximately HK$555,000) for a term of
three years from 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2024, which
was renewed on 1 June 2024 with monthly rate of
VND1,675,101,888 (equivalent to approximately
HK$517,000) for a term of three years from 1 June
2024 to 31 May 2027; (b) a plant at a monthly rate of
US$11,094 (equivalent to approximately HK$86,000) for
a term of two years and six months from 1 December
2020 to 31 May 2023, which was renewed on 1 June
2023 with monthly rate of VND261,064,008 (equivalent
to approximately HK$81,000) for 13 months from
1 June 2023 to 30 June 2024, which was further
renewed on 1 July 2024 with the same monthly rate
for one year from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025; (c) a
plant at a monthly rate of VND332,295,372 (equivalent
to approximately HK$102,000) for 5 months from
1 April 2024 to 31 August 2024, which was renewed
on 31 August 2024 with the same monthly rate for 2
months from 1 September to 31 October 2024; and (d)
a plant at a monthly rate of VND244,968,120
(equivalent to approximately HK$76,000) for almost 4
months from 6 June 2024 to 30 September 2024,
which was renewed on 30 September 2024 with the
same monthly rate for one year from 1 October 2024
to 30 September 2025.

(i) AEBEH-ZEANBDEERERT
M & &l BB E 2 JlPouyuen
Vietnam Company Limited
([ Pouyuen Vietnam J) :T i H & 13
& UTEAHe— BB MEB71,184%
7t (1 R 49555,00058 75) R =
BE-SE-_—FA"NBE—HREZZF
—HEARAB=+—HIEABP=5"
ZHEOR_F_MENB—HBE
% B %41,675,101,888# 4 & (10
ER#517,00087T)  BEZF MM
FRNA—HEBE_FE"_tFHA
Zt+—HLEAB=F h—FEAM
#11,0943 7T (18 % 1 #986,000%
TTNEE B -FF+"HA—
BRE_B-_=ZF#AA=+—HI
HEMENERA ZBEOR_-SE
Z_=ZHEXB—H#E®HN BHEAB
261,064,008% B BE(H#H & RN &
81,000875) B_ZB_=FA—
HEEZEZF_MWEANB=+tHILA
H+=@EA ZBEYNRIS-HEE
tA—BUERBEEBELY BZ
F_NFEtE—HEEZZSZAF
NA=Z=+HLEAH—F (c—MEA
0 5332,295 372 B (HE R
102,000 T MWEE - BE-F WM
FME—BREE_ZS_ME/\B
Z+—HIEABAEER ZBEHOR
ZEZME/)NB=Z+—HMUHEBA
HEN BT -_MEABA—BHR
E+B=+—HIAHEMER &
(d)— RS B 78 £&244,968,120#% F &
(182 R 4976,000% 7T) WK - B
—EFE_MNEANAANBREZZ M
FEABRB=Z+HILEAHERZ TME
B ZHARZF_NELA=T
HUERBAHEEYN B _HE
+E—HEEZZE_AFHIA=T
Hi-&#—F-



33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(continued)
Notes:(continued)

(i) (continued)

* Right-of-use assets of HK$13,384,000 (2024:
HK$1,334,000) and lease liabilities of
HK$13,695,000 (2024: HK$1,374,000) related to
the leases with related parties were recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, depreciation of
right-of-use assets of HK$6,482,000 (2024:
HK$7,490,000) and finance costs on lease
liabilities of HK$751,000 (2024: HK$120,000)
were recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

(ii) The service fee to Pouyuen Vietnam was made on a
basis mutually agreed by both parties.

[tem (ii) above also constitutes continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties
Included in accrued liabilities and other payables is
an amount due to Pouyuen Vietnam of
HK$3,695,000 (2024: HK$3,832,000), which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The directors are the key management personnel of
the Group. Details of their
disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

remuneration are

(a)

(b)

(c)

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

3B.RAEATRS @

(&

MisE (&

(i) (%)

* HEEALTHESRNER

H#EEE13,384,0008 T (ZF
Z g £ 1,334,000 7T) K
fH & & 1&13,695,000% 75 (Z
F T PO & :1,374,000% JT)
A_EBE_RAE=ZRA=+—H
MR BIRRERER - &
EF_AF=ZA=+—H
tEE FREEENE
6,482,000 T(Z F - @
£ 17,490,000 T) kK H &
EEMELE K A751,000% 7T
(ZFZ M4 120,000 7T)
RIRFBRRRER -

(ii) 4 F Pouyuen VietnamBI RIS B i &
FERZEERM-

EXEGETBA TR E14A
EMEENBERERS -

HEAEALTZRERE
EstaBEREMEMRECEEM
Pouyuen VietnamfJFI&3,695,000
BIT(Z F Z @™ £ :3,832,000%
T AR ERAEER RERER
ZREE-

EERFEEZETEEEAE - K
FH 2 51BN BB R R M RESiK

==

Ego
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MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ AEFE=Z/A=+—H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

34. &M T R 5%

EREMITERBSHPRNREAENT

EREE

Financial assets

275 &5 (FE) €8 qILINITSONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 391N 319V3
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2025 2024
—S_hE “EFIE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Financial assets at amortised cost; R AT RN ERIEE -
Accounts receivable & W BR R 460,403 324,572
Financial assets included in SIAERTE -ZEk
prepayments, deposits and other HAth fEIRRIER
receivables EMEE 12,003 11,229
Restricted bank balance SR H R 1T 45 B8R 1,071 1,084
Cash and bank balances Re &IRITHER 387,390 490,058
Total Et 860,867 826,943
Financial liabilities EREE
2025 2024
—EB-RE —ENE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: RSB AT RN ESREARE -
Accounts payable FEFERTR 319,398 306,698
Financial liabilities included in SFAEEEBEREMER
accrued liabilities and other HENEHEE
payables 46,359 31,357
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITER 1,447,502 909,464
Lease liabilities HEaE 17,809 3,683
Total st 1,831,068 1,251,202




34.

35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

The directors consider the carrying amounts of all
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost approximate to their fair values as at the
end of the reporting period largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments. The fair value of
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings
has been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as accounts receivable, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, a restricted bank balance, accounts payable,
financial liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other
payables and lease liabilities, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest
rates.

34.

35.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

R TA2%E @

EMaE @

EERR REEHR - FTEREBHEAE
FRENERMEEREREEBENIREES
HRAYEREE  KRBERZFIENEES
A& - St RIRTERWIFHE L2 2
FELRBEEEMER  SERRRR
BREMBAZTREEMATRAMNRMERSA
ARREREFAESL -

HERREEZBEERBER

FEENTEEMTEEGEARRTE
RERBERRITER ZFEMIEZE
ZENAZSELREBELEMFES - A%
EEEBWBERR - SFATRNRIE BER
HBBRENEREE  ZRHIRTE
B BNRMAEI B EEREMEM
HENEREEULREEGEERER
thEMEEREE NDRELCEREEE
4o

FEEESHIBEZTEZRBIRB AR
Rk - SMERRR  REBEERERREER
- EEEERLBEEESERRER
ZBUR - AR -

2= = b3
FEEFRARZZTBAXEHEAREE
HEAEERIBARFABNRITERE
21
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MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
—EAFE=ZHA=+—H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the floating
interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. The interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash
and bank balances are stated at amortised cost and not
revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest
income and expenses are credited/charged to the
statement of profit or loss as earned/incurred.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group's net profit
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

35. MEEKER 2BIERBE

€-2

FIRBEBE (&)
FEEEHREELERIRMEEGENER
HARER - 5t BIRITERRBEE RIRIT
ERIREENANR MAGTEHER -
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Increase in
interest rate Decrease
(basis points) in net profit
U= hn (EE) a1 Rk 2D
HK$'000
FAETT
2025 —_EBERSF 100 12,086
2024 ==t E 5 100 7,594
Foreign currency risk ShEE R B

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from a substantial portion of sales or
purchases by operating units were denominated in
United States dollars (“US$") and RMB. As the foreign
currency risk arising from sales and purchases can be set
off with each other and given that the Hong Kong dollar
is pegged to the US$, the Group believes its exposure to
exchange rate risk is minimal. It is the policy of the
Group to continue maintaining the balance of its sales
and purchases in the same currency. However, as the
functional currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB and
the Group’s financial statements are reported in Hong
Kong dollars, there will be a translation credit/debit to
the exchange fluctuation reserve as a result of RMB
appreciation/depreciation. The majority of the Group's
operating assets are located in Chinese Mainland and
denominated in RMB.

FEEAXRZERRR - BRERRKR
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RIS HHMNERBRER - AEBEFEEER
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RRBFEENEREE - AEEKRILLE
BEEHMNRPEKNE EUARES
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the
foreign exchange exposures and will consider hedging
the significant foreign currency exposures should the
need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the RMB exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's net profit (due to

35.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

HBEREEREZBERBE

=
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SMNEE R\ B (4)
AEB B EIMEH DK - AT B
BERERNERR TEERERERHT
ERIERE -

TRIFAEE LT EAREEERE
SHRT B IR 2 A B E (58 it
BUBTE) ZHBE BRNEKEER
& EATERD)

changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities):
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate net profit
EXEH “uFUE
("FEE) ()
HK$'000
FHET
2025 ZEBZhE
If HK$ strengthens against RMB BT AREAE 3% (1,350)
If HK$ weakens against RMB HWEBETREARERE (3%) 1,350
2024 ZEME
If HK$ strengthens against RMB HWETEAREAE 3% (115)
If HK$ weakens against RMB HBETEARERE (3%) 115
Liquidity risk mENE £ B pE

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and the projected cash
flows from operations.

The Group maintains a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing
bank borrowings and other banking facilities. The
directors have reviewed the Group's working capital and
capital expenditure requirements and determined that the
Group has no significant liquidity risk.

rEEEACEERBESRETAER
RETHRZEAR ZEIRTEEEH
TERERMEE (WEBKERR 22HAB
o UREEFRZETRERA -

AEEZBERFBRTEREHAMMIR
THERBEE HRESHEHEREREE
ZENFE BEFRCRILEENEEER
RERBES R -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 HEERKERE 2B ERKE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continved) (4)

REE T EBE (&)
RB|BERR  AEERBEORTRMR
AEZERMEENABRAOT

Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the

78 B3 (35 0E) €% QILIANITSONIATIOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 319V3
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contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

On demand

or within 1to 5
1 year years Total
FEER
—f§R 1E55 et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHBT
2025 —E-RE
Accounts payable F& {5 BR R 319,398 — 319,398
Financial liabilities included in FFAEFEaER
accrued liabilities and other HEMEMTFEN
payables ERMEE 46,359 — 46,359
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFEIRITER 1,325,983 140,234 1,466,217
Lease liabilities HEa®’ 8,141 10,754 18,895
Total st 1,699,881 150,988 1,850,869
2024 —EC-ME
Accounts payable FE < BR 3Kk 306,698 — 306,698
Financial liabilities included in FFANEFEaER
accrued liabilities and other HitE[RIER
payables Gl =N 31,357 — 31,357
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFEIRITER 670,914 272,554 943,468
Lease liabilities HEa®& 3,407 322 3,729
Total HET 1,012,376 272,876 1,285,252




35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

35. MEEKER 2BIERBIE

(&)

EERE
AEHEERIREERFNE=77E
IR5 - AEEEHEUGREREIARSH
FIERRETEESRE - I BIRFUE
EHRTEFHERE -

REEERFEEEER
TRENERAEENGEERRNEE
BERrkESEERR  TEERGHEH
(BREEMERNTEREAMNEHRABERA
ABNNERTERS)  MR=ZB=+—
HFERERDT - A2 B EEREE
TREEMRKREE-

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+Z@A
BEHEE
BB SHEBEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
E—HE F_EER F=EER BHEHE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
2025 -l 3 3
Accounts receivable* JiE W BR F - - - 460,403 460,403
Financial assets included in FAAEMRIE BER
prepayments, deposits and other Hith e WA
receivables SRIEE
— Normal** — EE** 12,003 = = = 12,003
Restricted bank balance ZRRHIIRITE R
— Not yet past due — KRB 1,071 - - - 1,071
Cash and bank balances B& RIRTHERR
— Not yet past due — R 387,390 - - - 387,390
Total wEt 400,464 - — 460,403 860,867
2024 ZEME
Accounts receivable* JiE W BR F — — — 324,572 324,572
Financial assets included in FAAEMRIE BER
prepayments, deposits and other Hith e RIE R
receivables SRIEE
— Normal** — EEE** 11,229 — — — 11,229
Restricted bank balance ZIRHRTHERR
— Not yet past due — K@ 1,084 — — — 1,084
Cash and bank balances BeRIRTER
— Not yet past due — R H 490,058 — — — 490,058
Total st 502,371 — — 324,572 826,943
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2025
—EAFE=ZHA=+—H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

(continued)

* For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment allowance is disclosed in
note 19 to the financial statements.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. Capital includes bank borrowings and equity
attributable to owners of the parent. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024.

The Group monitors capital using a current ratio, which is
total current assets divided by total current liabilities.
The Group’s policy is to keep the current ratio above 1.
As at 31 March 2025, the current ratio was 1.03 (2024:
1.36).
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2025
¥ CAFE=Z/A=+—H

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 36. AT M BIRREK 221
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of BEARNERBEHRNEBERTERN
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as ERWMT -
follows:

2025 2024
—EBE_RE —EFmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBAB Z’RE 43,368 43,368
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Due from subsidiaries & WS I 2~ ) 5ROR 1,222,154 3,237,230
Prepayments BRI 200 184
Cash and bank balances ReRIBITHER 648 1,040
Total current assets mMEEELEE 1,223,002 3,238,454
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEaE
Due to subsidiaries FE 15 B |8 1~ Bl RUIE 200 2,208,073
Accrued liabilities and other payables [F& &t & & K H fth F& 4 k18 228 147 @
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERIBITER 137,706 9,396 u<§
Tax payable & {1 18 252 739 =
oX
Total current liabilities nBaBERE 138,386 2,218,355 o
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 1,084,616 1,020,099 &
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE m
Interest-bearing bank borrowing FFRIBITER 140,040 258,390 i
Net assets BEFE 987,944 805,077 =
EQUITY a& §
Issued capital BEZITERA 5,742 5,338 2
Reserves (note) G 982,202 799,739 =
T
Total equity BEXRBE 987,944 805,077 =
=
=
=
EE
=
o
]
=
o
Q
<
L
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2025
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 36. Z AR MBIRRAR @
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continuea)
Note: fEsE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AKAFREZHMEDNT -
Share
premium Capital Retained
account reserve profits Total
B {7
HER BEXHEE QBEEN et

Notes ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i 5 TERT FTET TERT FTET

78 B3 (35 0E) €% QILIANITSONIATIOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 319V3

At 1 April 2023 RIEB_=FIH—H 573,910 43,088 258,867 875,865
Profit and total comprehensive income P& Fll R 2 E W S 4858

for the year — — 158,746 158,746
Special 2023 dividend ZE=FERIKRE 11 — — (32,028) (32,028)
Final 2023 dividend B =ZFREKE 11 — — (42,704) (42,704)
Interim 2024 dividend ZE_MEHFHEKR 11 — —  (160,140)  (160,140)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIFZME=R=+—H

EZEBE_MEMA—H 573,910 43,088 182,741 799,739

Profit and total comprehensive income £ PN Fll & 2 [ YR 25 48 28

for the year — = 173,007 173,007
Issue of shares BITHRG 27 181,710 - — 181,710
Final 2024 dividend ZE_MERBAKRE 11 — = (45,934) (45,934)
Interim 2025 dividend B FEPRHEER 11 = —  (126,320) (126,320)
At 31 March 2025 RZB_AF=B=+—H 755,620 43,088 183,494 982,202
The capital reserve of the Company represents the ARNBEXRBEEALDRBEHMIK
excess of the then consolidated net assets of the BB AR BERNEEEETRE BHA
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to the WETZANBRAEBEZER - RIEH
Reorganisation over the nominal value of the share SHERTE  BEXRBEUDIRTFALA
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor. BREEREEEZRCKREAEHE &
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the NEMBREEEHEERPEHEE -

capital reserve may be distributed to the shareholders of
the Company, provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 37. MBHERZHMHE
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised MERERENR-ZZE_AFANBE+—HBHE
for issue by the board of directors of the Company on AN EETH ELRETT -

11 June 2025.
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